University of Nevada, Reno

# Examining the Relationship Between Preschool Teachers' Use of Social and Emotional Teaching Strategies and Children's Challenging Behavior and Social Skills

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Education

by

Janice K. Lee Fuquay

Ann Bingham, Ph.D./Dissertation Advisor

May, 2021



# THE GRADUATE SCHOOL

We recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by

# Janice K. Lee Fuquay

entitled

### Examining the Relationship Between Preschool Teachers' Use of Social and Emotional Teaching Strategies and Children's Challenging Behavior and Social Skills

be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

# **Doctor of Philosophy**

Ann Bingham, Ph.D. *Advisor* 

Tammy Abernathy, Ph.D. *Committee Member* 

Lindsay Diamond, Ph.D. Committee Member

Glen Dunlap, Ph.D. *Committee Member* 

Hyun-Joo Jeon, Ph.D. Graduate School Representative

David W. Zeh, Ph.D., Dean *Graduate School* 

May, 2021

#### Abstract

Because there are immediate and long-term implications when preschool children exhibit challenging behavior in the classroom, it is crucial to prevent and address challenging behavior as early as possible. Social and emotional teaching strategies have been shown to reduce challenging behavior of preschoolers and increase social and emotional skills. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine if social and emotional teaching strategies correlated with changes in the challenging behavior and social skills of preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. Data were obtained from an archival data set of a randomized controlled trial (RCT) efficacy study of an intervention for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. The data set included baseline measures of teaching practices in classrooms as measured by the Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT) and changes in preschooler's challenging behavior and social skills using the Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) collected at pre- and post-test of study participation (spanning 4 months). Pearson correlations of the teaching practices and children's change scores for challenging behavior and social skills were analyzed for possible statistical significance. Results showed that teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving were associated with statistically significant reductions in preschoolers' challenging behavior for children who participated in the intervention group of the original RCT. No statistically significant relationships were identified for teaching social and emotional competencies, friendship skills, or expressing emotions. Implications for persistent challenging behavior in preschool classrooms are discussed. *Keywords*: preschool, challenging behavior, social skills, social emotional

#### Dedication

This research is dedicated to young children and their families, teachers, and others who teach and care for them. This research acknowledges that as researchers, we are indebted to all of you for allowing us into your lives in our attempts to learn from you so that we may in turn help others. You are our teachers; we work to share your knowledge and expertise that you may not know you have. With humility and reverence, I hope you will continue to allow me to learn from you, as there is still much to learn. Further acknowledgement is needed that a child's behavior is not challenging or problematic; the child is only engaging in behaviors they have learned from others in their environment. It is the adult behaviors that are challenging or problematic, and we should shift our language and perspective in order to view young children's behavior as a consequence of adult behaviors, not vice versa. When we know better, we can do better; and we should treat others how we wish to be treated ... always.

This work is dedicted to my incredible family, who lived, loved, laughed, cried, and survived with me in achieving this momentus milestone. Acknowledgements abound, which cannot fully be expressed here with the gravitas that is deserved. To you Joel, who always pushed me to "get it done!"; to Charlie, for always offering to help so that I could get more sleep; to Lucy for encouraging me to finish my work so we could "do more fun things together"; and to Daniel, for being such a surprise in so many ways. I have the honor and privilege of being your wife and mother and grateful for all the things you teach me. Our family's collective curiosity is simultaneously a blessing and a curse; may our learning never end as we embark on some new adventures ... To my esteemed Advisor and Committee Members, I am appreciative of your time, expertise, and guidance over the years. This research and work is dedicated to you, since this would not be possible without you. Beyond clichés, there are abundant acknowledgements to recognize; foremost of which is the culmination of a body of learning and work that goes into doctoral studies and earning a terminal degree. There are a multitude of objectives to meet along the way, and your ongoing support was invaluable in making it to the end. I am grateful to you, Drs. Bingham, Abernathy, Diamond, Dunlap, and Jeon, for advising, reviewing, and refining this research. Especially to Glen, who I am endebted to in many ways for a plethora of reasons. You have provided so many cherished opportunities grounded in strong values. Finally, to Drs. Pat Snyder and Nancy Leech who provided perspective and expertise in early conversations of designing this study and data analyses.

Ultimately, I would like to dedicate this research to, and acknowledge the work of, all those who came before me and those who will follow long after. In the continuing pursuit of knowledge and fulfilling curiosities, asking questions and engaging in science to get closer to answering those questions is a continuous and infinite cycle. I am inspired to continue this exploration with you; but first, some rest ...

ABSTRACT	I
DEDICATION	II
LIST OF TABLES	VI
CHAPTER ONE - INTRODUCTION	1
DEFINING CHALLENGING BEHAVIOR	2
THE IMPORTANCE OF TEACHING SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL SKILLS	5
STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	8
PURPOSE OF THE STUDY	9
Key Terms	9
SUMMARY	10
CHAPTER TWO – REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
CURRENT KNOWLEDGE ABOUT CHALLENGING BEHAVIOR	12
CURRENT KNOWLEDGE: IDENTIFYING FUNCTION OF BEHAVIOR	15
INTERVENTION FOR CHALLENGING BEHAVIOR IN PRESCHOOL SETTINGS	18
INTERVENTIONS AND EFFECTS OF SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL SKILL INSTRUCTION	20
Multi-Tiered Interventions that Include Social and Emotional Skill Instruction	21
Curriculum Interventions that Include Social and Emotional Skill Instruction	
SUMMARY	35
CHAPTER THREE – METHODOLOGY	37
Research Ouestions	
RCT DATA BASE	39
RCT DATA BASE VARIABLES USED IN THE CURRENT STUDY	42
Participants	
Table 1	
Table 2	
MEASURES	47
Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool	47
Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales	50
DATA COLLECTION FOR CURRENT STUDY	
DATA ANALYSIS	
SUMMARY	
CHAPTER FOUR – RESULTS	57
Table 3	
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL TEACHING STRATEGIES AND CHALLENGING	
Behavior	59
Table 4	60
Teaching Behavior Expectations	60
Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies	61
Teaching Friendship Skills	61
Teaching Children to Express Emotions	
Teaching Problem Solving	
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL TEACHING STRATEGIES AND SOCIAL SKILLS Table 6	64 ۲
Tuule U	
reacting benuvior Expectations	

# Table of Contents

Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies	
Teaching Friendship Skills	
Teaching Children to Express Emotions	67
Teaching Problem Solving	67
Table 7	68
CHAPTER FIVE - DISCUSSION	70
IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE	
IMPLICATIONS FOR TEACHER EDUCATION	77
Research Directions	79
LIMITATIONS	
OVERALL SUMMARY	
REFERENCES	85
APPENDIX A – TEACHING PYRAMID OBSERVATION TOOL EXCERPT	102
APPENDIX B – SOCIAL SKILLS IMPROVEMENT SYSTEM	

# List of Tables

Table		Page
1	Teacher Demographics by Gender, Classroom Type, and Participation in 2 or More Cohorts	44
2	Child Demographics by Gender, Ethnicity, Classroom Type, IEP Status, and English as a Primary Home Language	46
3	Means and Standard Deviations by Group and Variable	58
4	Correlation Matrix of Social and Emotional Teaching Practices and Changes in Children's Challenging (Problem) Behavior	60
5	Correlation Matrix of Key Teaching Practice and Changes in Children's Challenging (Problem) Behavior	64
6	Correlation Matrix of Social and Emotional Teaching Practices and Changes in Children's Social Skills	65
7	Correlation Matrix of Key Teaching Practice and Changes in Children's Social Skills	68

Examining the Relationship Between Preschool Teachers' Use of Social and Emotional

Teaching Strategies and Children's Challenging Behavior and Social Skills

#### **CHAPTER ONE – INTRODUCTION**

Preschool aged children (3 - 5 years old) are three to four times more likely to be expelled or kicked out of school than students in Kindergarten – 12<sup>th</sup> grade due to persistent challenging behavior (Gilliam, 2005; Meek & Gilliam, 2016). When children are expelled and/or suspended from preschool due to challenging behavior, it impacts the child, family, and community (Division for Early Childhood, 2017; Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). Child impacts include removal from the educational environment, fractured relationships with adults and peers, reduced opportunities to learn social and emotional skills, and life-long physical and behavioral health concerns (Bornstein et al., 2010; Campbell, 1995; Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). Family impacts include increased stress, reduced work productivity and/or loss of a job, family tension, and difficulty finding child care options (Doubet & Ostrosky, 2016). Community impacts include strain on the early care and education workforce, increased demand for an already taxed mental and behavioral health workforce, long term community concerns for the physical and behavioral health of its members, and impacts on public safety and incarceration rates (Coie & Dodge, 1998; National Scientific Council, 2010; Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). When persistent challenging behavior is present, there are immediate and long-term implications for preschool aged children, their families, and the community at large if action is not taken to ameliorate the challenging behavior.

For preschool aged children, estimated prevalence rates of challenging behavior vary from 10% to 20% (Brauner & Stephens, 2006; Egger & Angold, 2006; Lavigne et

al., 2009; Wichstrom et al., 2012). Prevalence rates are even higher for young children with disabilities, with reported rates of 3 to 7 times higher than those without disabilities (Baker et al., 2002). It is crucial to address and reduce persistent challenging behavior in preschool aged children as early as possible (National Scientific Council on the Developing Child, 2020; New Freedom Commission on Mental Health, 2003). Researchers have been studying and discussing the prevalence, impacts, prevention, and intervention of challenging behavior with young children for several decades, yet there is still a vast discrepancy in what is known and what services young children typically experience (Dunlap et al., 2006; Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000).

#### **Defining Challenging Behavior**

For young children, challenging behavior is commonly defined as "any repeated pattern of behavior, or perception of behavior, that interferes with or is at risk of interfering with the child's optimal learning or engagement in pro-social interactions with peers and adults" (Smith & Fox, 2003, p. 6). It is important to distinguish the concept of persistent challenging behavior to behavior that is challenging and not socially acceptable. Behavior that is challenging and not socially acceptable occurs with all young children during their early growth and development. As young children learn to communicate and respond in socially and culturally appropriate ways, most children engage in challenging behaviors like crying, hitting, biting, or throwing objects.

During infancy and toddlerhood, these types of behaviors are ubiquitous, and children are typically taught socially and culturally appropriate ways to communicate, express their emotions, and interact with others (Dunlap et al., 2006; Fox, 2015). These socially and culturally accepted behaviors are typically taught during daily interactions with nurturing caregivers using developmentally appropriate guidance procedures and teaching strategies (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; Kaufmann & Hepburn, 2007). These guidance procedures and teaching strategies serve to teach children which socially appropriate behaviors to engage in instead of using challenging behavior. When these appropriate behaviors are taught and implemented consistently, young children tend to have fewer instances of challenging behavior. These few instances are typically episodic and can usually be explained by extenuating circumstances (e.g. the child is tired, not feeling well, in a new or different setting, away from primary caregivers).

The definition of challenging behavior specified by Smith and Fox (2003) provides further clarity by indicating that the challenging behavior interferes with the child's learning or relationships with others. This additional clarity seeks to narrow the definition of challenging behavior in a field where the literature contains different definitions of challenging behavior due to the often subjective and culturally specific perceptions of what does and does not constitute challenging behavior and what requires intervention (Dunlap et al., 2006). Since many behaviors during the early childhood years are typical for the child's age and can simultaneously be perceived as challenging, it can be difficult to discriminate and specify what constitutes persistent challenging behavior. In other words, challenging behavior is idiosyncratic to the context and environmental variables in which they occur and is defined by the individual.

For this study, the Smith and Fox (2003) definition will be used, which is relevant for all young children regardless of what their previous experiences are, whether they have typical development, have a developmental disability and/or developmental delay, or are at-risk for developmental disabilities or delays (including emotional behavioral disorders). From this point on, challenging behavior will refer to behaviors that are not only persistent and consistent, but interferes with the child's learning or relationship with others (Smith & Fox, 2003).

Persistent challenging behavior tends to signify that the child engaging in that behavior does not have the appropriate social and emotional skills to respond to or interact appropriately with the person he or she is demonstrating this challenging behavior toward. As indicated earlier, episodic or sporadic challenging behavior can possibly be attributed to other variables like being tired, hungry, or not feeling well. Challenging behavior that persists over time indicates that the behavior "works" for the child in that it communicates a message to others around them that there is a problem to be solved. Teaching an appropriate social or emotional skill for the child to engage in instead of the challenging behavior is a recommended solution to this problem, but doing so is not necessarily a common teaching practice.

There is evidence that social and emotional skills can be taught and measured, that social and emotional skills promote positive child development which, in turn, reduces the presence of challenging behavior in preschoolers (Schonert-Reichl et al., 2017). Moreover, social and emotional skills are imperative for school settings, improve academic performance and health-related behaviors, and predict important life outcomes (Schonert-Reichl et al., 2017). However, research in preschool classrooms and from teachers makes it resoundingly clear that preschool teachers are rarely adequately prepared to teach and support social and emotional skills to preschoolers (e.g. Fox et al., 2003; Hemmeter et al., 2006; Hemmeter et al., 2008; National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, 2009; Snell et al., 2012; U.S. Departments of Health and Human Services and Education, 2015; Yates, 2016). The importance of teaching social and emotional skills will be described next.

#### The Importance of Teaching Social and Emotional Skills

There is consensus in the early care and education community that social and emotional skills are a necessity for survival and success in families, schools, and communities (Division for Early Childhood, 2017; National Scientific Council on the Developing Child, 2008/2012; U.S. Departments of Health and Human Service and Education, 2015). Longitudinal research reveals that social and emotional skills acquired during the early childhood years predict positive adult outcomes including educational accomplishments, better employment opportunities, reduced levels of criminal activity, and reduced levels of substance use and abuse (e.g. Jones et al., 2015; Moffitt et al., 2011). Furthermore, when young children exhibit challenging behavior, many early care and education professionals perceive the child's challenging behavior as an indicator that the child lacks the social and emotional skills that are appropriate for the child's age (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; Denham & Burton, 2003; Fox et al., 2003; Perry et al., 2007). Subsequently, the perspective that the child needs instruction and support in ageand culturally-appropriate social and emotional skills is understood by researchers and highly experienced professionals in early care and education.

The current literature documents successful teaching strategies and methods for preventing and addressing challenging behaviors with preschool aged children in classroom settings, namely teaching age- and culturally-appropriate social and emotional skills (Dunlap & Fox, 2011; Durand & Moskowitz, 2015; Martinez et al., 2016; Wood et al, 2015). The challenge to the field remains in closing the research-to-practice gap and providing relevant information and strategies to teachers in preschool classrooms throughout public and private programs, wherever preschoolers are in attendance (Snell et al., 2012). Training needs for early childhood teachers to prevent and address challenging behavior in classroom settings is well documented (Fox, 2015; Fox et al., 2003; Hemmeter et al., 2006; U.S. Departments of Health and Human Services and Education, 2015; Yates, 2016), including research documenting needs identified from higher education personnel (Hemmeter et al., 2008), parents (Doubet & Ostrosky, 2015), and the teachers themselves (Snell et al., 2012). Supporting preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior requires highly trained professionals to facilitate and guide teams for individualized behavior support, yet a vast majority of programs do not have access to professionals with this expertise (Dunlap & Fox, 2011; National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, 2009). It is critical to use pre-professional training and on-going professional development to improve the capacity of preschool teachers to prevent and address challenging behavior in their classrooms. Preschool teachers need the information and strategies for teaching age- and culturally-appropriate social and emotional skills.

An additional challenge is that social and emotional development and the skills that demonstrate developmental progression in the social and emotional domain are many and increase exponentially as children move from infancy to toddlerhood and then to preschool ages (3 - 5 years old). Although social and emotional skills are often culturally-determined, developmental milestones on social and emotional skills for young children and the screening and assessment tools to measure the social and emotional development of young children have been validated with children from various racial, ethnic, and geographical locations throughout the U.S. [e.g. Ages and Stages Questionnaire – Social Emotional, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition (ASQ-SE2; Squires et al., 2015), Deveraux Early Childhood Assessment Preschool Program, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition (DECA; LeBuffe & Naglieri, 2012), Social Emotional Assessment Measure (SEAM; Squires et al., 2014)].

Furthermore, the current literature base on social and emotional skill instruction includes a variety of research intervention strategies that range from evaluating a single social and emotional skill (e.g. Durand & Moskowitz, 2015); to implementing a framework of supporting social and emotional development for all young children (e.g. Hemmeter et al., 2016); to evaluating the implementation of a set of social and emotional skills (e.g. Conroy et al., 2015); and evaluating social emotional curricula (e.g. Webster-Stratton et al., 2008). The literature provides evidence that when preschool teachers intentionally teach social and emotional skills, children are likely to learn and demonstrate those skills in the classroom (Dunlap et al., 2006; U.S. Depts. of Health and Human Services & Education, 2015). When social and emotional skills are taught in the classroom, children make greater improvements in those skills and greater reductions in challenging behavior than children in classrooms that do not directly teach those skills (Assessment Work Group, 2019; Hemmeter et al., 2016; Thompson & Raikes, 2007). In situations when children demonstrate challenging behavior, teachers who intentionally teach social and emotional skills are able to individualize instruction to resolve that behavior (Dunlap et al., 2006; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2017; U.S. Depts. of Health and Human Services & Education, 2015).

The current evidence regarding social and emotional skill instruction in preschool classrooms is typically focused on the overall improvement of the classroom as a whole,

without a specific focus on children who already exhibit persistent challenging behavior (e.g. Fettig & Artman-Meeker, 2016). Research is needed to determine if instruction of social and emotional skills correlates with greater changes in social skills in preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior and greater changes in their challenging behavior. Chapter Two provides a summary of the literature on the current knowledge about challenging behavior and the interventions and effects of social and emotional skill instruction on preschool children's challenging behavior and social skills. The support for this work is abundant.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Individualized interventions and supports are one way to address persistent challenging behavior, but there are not currently sufficient behavioral support professionals to support teachers in preschool classrooms with persistent challenging behavior (Meyers, 2007). Furthermore, teaching age- and culturally-appropriate social and emotional skills is the way to prevent or substantially reduce the presence of challenging behavior with young children (U.S. Depts. of Health and Human Services & Education, 2015). Therefore, a solution to insufficient behavioral support professionals could be to teach preschool teachers effective ways to prevent and address persistent challenging behavior with preschoolers in classroom settings (Denno, Phillips, Harte, & Moomaw, 2004).

Currently the literature does not specify whether specific social and emotional skills taught in the classroom is related to changes in the social skills of preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. The current literature base suggests that teachers and classroom personnel can teach specific skills to preschoolers with persistent challenging behaviors to reduce those challenging behaviors (Assessment Work Group, 2019; Hemmeter et al., 2016; Thompson & Raikes, 2007; Wood et al., 2015). Yet the current available literature has not identified what, if any, specific social and emotional skills should be taught to reduce the prevalence of challenging behavior and improve social skills in preschool classrooms.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

Teachers, parents and caregivers, and the community at large would benefit from knowing whether or not preschoolers who exhibit persistent challenging behavior demonstrate changes in the presence of challenging behavior and changes in the acquisition of social and emotional skills when social and emotional skills are explicitly taught in the classroom. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine if children with persistent challenging behavior made greater changes in challenging behavior and in social and emotional skills when social and emotional skills were taught in the classroom. In other words, do universal teaching strategies to support social and emotional skills for the whole class correlate with greater changes in challenging behavior and social skills of preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior?

#### **Key Terms**

*Challenging behavior* - "any repeated pattern of behavior, or perception of behavior, that interferes with or is at risk of interfering with the child's optimal learning or engagement in pro-social interactions with peers and adults" (Smith & Fox, 2003, p. 6). Also known as problem behavior. The Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scale (Frank and Gresham, 2008) Problem Behavior subscale measures a child's challenging behavior. *Preschool* – educational classroom setting for children who are between about three and five years old and have not yet attended kindergarten.

*Social and emotional skills* – "the ... capacity of the child from birth through five years of age to form close and secure adult and peer relationships; experience, regulate, and express emotions in socially and culturally appropriate ways; and explore the environment and learn – all in the context of family, community, and culture" (Zero to Three, 2016). Also known as mental health. The Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales (Elliott & Gresham, 2008) Social Skills subscale measures a child's social and emotional skills.

Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scale (SSIS) – a screening and assessment tool for identifying students with significant social skill delays/deficits and identifying interventions for those students.

*Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT)* – an assessment instrument designed to measure a preschool teacher's implementation of Pyramid Model teaching practices. The Pyramid Model is a multi-tiered framework of evidence-based teaching practices to support young children's social and emotional competence and address challenging behavior.

#### Summary

It is clear that preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior in the classroom are at a much higher risk of expulsion than their K-12 counterparts (Gilliam, 2005). If those challenging behaviors are not ameliorated with effective teaching strategies, the academic and social trajectories for those children may be dismal and devastating for families and communities. Preschool teachers may benefit from high quality professional development on evidence-based practices to teach social and emotional skills in the classroom. It is unclear if certain social and emotional skills taught in the classroom correlates with greater changes in challenging behavior and social and emotional skills of preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. The purpose of this study is to examine if certain social and emotional skills taught in the classroom correlates with greater changes in challenging behavior and social and emotional skills for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior and social and emotional skills for preschoolers with greater changes in challenging behavior and social and emotional skills for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior in classroom settings. The next chapter will summarize the currently available evidence related to teaching social and emotional skills in the classroom.

#### **CHAPTER TWO – REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

There is overwhelming evidence that preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior are at an elevated risk of experiencing immediate and life-long punitive consequences with poor outcomes (e.g. Dunlap et al., 2006; Gilliam, 2005; Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). However, there is a vast literature base of a process and strategies to effectively prevent and ameliorate challenging behavior with preschool aged children in classroom settings. Chapter Two provides a summary of the literature on the current knowledge about challenging behavior and the interventions and effects of social and emotional skill instruction on preschool children's challenging behavior and social skills.

#### **Current Knowledge About Challenging Behavior**

Before synthesizing the literature on social and emotional skill instruction in preschool classrooms, it is important to provide a brief summary of the current knowledge about challenging behavior with young children. There is a vast amount of literature in the recent past with a multitude of approaches, strategies, and perspectives about how challenging behaviors develop and should be addressed. The behavioral perspective, emphasizing a function-based approach, is supported by hundreds of empirical studies (e.g. Arndorfer & Miltenberger, 1993; Conroy et al., 2005; Dunlap et al., 2006; Fettig & Barton, 2014; Lloyd, et al., 2019; Machalicek et al., 2007; Smith & Fox, 2003; Wood et al., 2009). Fortunately for the field, there is consensus that functionbased assessment and intervention is the most effective and efficient process for addressing and ameliorating challenging behavior with young children (Dunlap & Kern, 2018; National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, 2009; U.S. Departments of Health and Human Services and Education, 2015; Wood et al., 2011; Wood et al., 2015). Understanding a function-based approach helps to put the importance of preventative practices and emphases on instruction of social and emotional skills into context.

Challenging behavior cannot be discussed without first considering the effects of the social context and social environment. Challenging behavior often occurs because it may be the most efficient way the child is able to get something they need or want or to get away or avoid something (Cooper et al., 2007; Dunlap & Fox, 2011). Although all children exhibit challenging behavior at times, challenging behavior persists when children do not exhibit appropriate skills for communicating their needs and wants. Persistent challenging behavior is evidence that it is effective for the child. An effective social context and environment is fundamental to teaching socially appropriate skills to prevent challenging behavior from persisting. Persistent challenging behavior, from a function-based approach, is understood by three principles: challenging behavior is functional, communicative, and is the result of a lack of appropriate skills.

The first principle of understanding persistent challenging behavior is that challenging behavior is functional. Challenging behavior acts upon or evokes a response from those in the social environment (Carr, 1977; Cooper et al., 2007; Dunlap & Fox, 2011); it is a mechanism for getting needs and wants fulfilled. Challenging behavior serves a function, or purpose, for the child; it does not "happen for no reason," "out of the blue," or "all the time" as challenging behavior can often be characterized by classroom personnel. Examples of challenging behavior and its function in the social context can include crying to get adult affection/attention, tantrums because the child does not want to put away what they are playing with when told to clean up, or hiding in a corner of the playground to avoid going inside when told it is time to go in. If challenging behavior persists, the adult needs to identify and understand the function or why the challenging behavior is occurring in the first place. Understanding the "why" helps the adult acknowledge the reason the challenging behavior is occurring with the child and is related to the next component, communication. Determining the function of behavior will be described in more detail in the next section.

The second principle of understanding persistent challenging behavior is that challenging behavior is communicative (Carr, 1997; Cooper et al., 2007; Dunlap & Fox, 2011). Once the adult understands the function, the communicative message or intent can be identified. Sometimes the message is clear and obvious, and other times the message is complex and difficult to figure out. For young children, the message is generally fairly easy to determine. Examples of challenging behavior and its communicative message can include crying to request adult affection, tantrums to communicate they want to play outside for longer, or hitting another child to say they want the toy that child has. Once the challenging behavior can be understood from the child's perspective and what the child is trying to communicate, then the identification of an appropriate skill to teach can be determined. The "what," combined with the "why," helps to identify the next component, an appropriate skill.

The third principle of understanding challenging behavior is that challenging behavior occurs because the child lacks the skills to communicate effectively with socially appropriate forms of behavior (Carr, 1977; Cooper et al., 2007; Dunlap & Fox, 2011). When adults understand why the behavior occurs and what the child is trying to communicate, the adults can identify how to teach the child to appropriately communicate the intended message. This understanding informs what intervention strategy(s) is chosen by using the combined information about why the behavior occurs and what the communicative message is, to identify appropriate skills to teach the child (what to do instead of the challenging behavior, or a replacement skill). Examples of challenging behavior and a socially appropriate replacement skill can include: instead of crying to request adult affection, a child could ask for a hug; rather than hitting a peer that has a fun toy to play with, the child could ask the peer to play with the toy; in place of knocking down a peer's block structure, the child could ask to build with the peer. If a child demonstrated the socially appropriate skill and the adult responded to that appropriate skill, then the child would get their needs and wants fulfilled, and therefore reduce the likelihood of the challenging behavior.

In summary, it is vital to fully appreciate the effects of how those in the social context and environment influence the behavior of others in that social context and environment. If socially appropriate behaviors are taught and responded to by others, it is not necessary for a child to express themselves through persistent challenging behavior because they have the appropriate skills to get their needs and wants met. To prevent challenging behavior from becoming persistent, knowledge that behavior is functional, communicative, and is due to a lack of skills for that child provides the appropriate context for teaching and responding to social and emotional skills. The next section will discuss how function of behavior is identified.

#### **Current Knowledge: Identifying Function of Behavior**

When a child demonstrates persistent challenging behavior that is not responsive to effective teaching strategies, research has demonstrated that a functional behavior assessment (FBA) can determine the function or purpose of a child's challenging behavior (Ala'i-Rosales et al., 2019; Dunlap & Fox, 2011; Wood et al., 2011). Information collected to inform the FBA is completed using indirect and/or direct assessments (Alter et al., 2008). Indirect assessments use measures that do not require any direct observation of the challenging behavior and can include reviewing records, interviewing those who know the child, and/or checklists completed by those who know the child (e.g. Dunlap et al., 2013). Information can be obtained about the nature of the challenging behavior, when the challenging behavior occurs, under what context(s), and how others currently respond to the challenging behavior.

Direct assessments use measures that require direct observation of the child in natural settings and can include narrative accounts of antecedents, behaviors, and consequences (ABCs; Bijou et al., 1968), scatter plots (Touchette et al., 1985), and other types of descriptive analyses (e.g. behavior incident reports, checklists) collected by directly observing the child's challenging behavior. Indirect and direct assessments are completed in natural settings without changing or manipulating any of the current variables (Ala'i-Rosales et al., 2019).

A functional analysis (FA) is an experimental process of determining the function of challenging behavior but involves directly manipulating antecedents and consequences systematically to determine the function of the challenging behavior using experimental analyses (Cooper et al., 2007; O'Neill et al., 1997; Sugai et al., 1999). FAs are designed to determine causal relationships between behavior and consequence variables whereas FBAs determine correlational relationships (e.g. Alter et al., 2008).

Determining the function of a child's challenging behavior is one of the early steps of the process of function-based assessment and intervention. Once the function of the child's challenging behavior can be determined through indirect, direct, and/or experimental measures, the antecedents and consequences that elicit or maintain the challenging behavior can be identified. That information is then used to inform and develop an intervention plan to address and ameliorate the challenging behavior. A function-based intervention plan is then developed that uses instructional strategies to explicitly reduce or eliminate the challenging behavior based on the function of the behavior. For example, if the function of the challenging behavior is to avoid a nonpreferred activity (e.g. going to circle time, cleaning up), the activity could be modified (e.g. only goes to circle time for one minute, or has to put away two items) or the child could be taught to say "no" in an appropriate and acceptable way for the classroom. In other words, the identified strategy for implementation (replacement skill) must fulfill the same function of the challenging behavior and be at least as effective and efficient as the challenging behavior in getting responses from the adults in the classroom (Cooper et al., 2007; Dunlap & Fox, 2011).

The function-based assessment and intervention process is time- and resourceintensive, regardless if indirect, direct, and/or experimental assessments are conducted. Ultimately, the function of a child's challenging behavior needs to be individually determined, and thus far, the function-based assessment process is the most widely studied and used in educational settings (Arndorfer & Miltenberger, 1993; Dunlap & Fox, 2011; Lloyd et al., 2019; Machalicek et al., 2007). A multitude of studies have been conducted that demonstrate empirical evidence of function-based assessment and intervention for young children with challenging behavior in classroom settings, including with early childhood teachers as interventionists (e.g. Brock & Beaman-Diglia, 2018; Dunlap et al, 2018; Wood et al., 2011), with young children with disabilities or those who are at risk of disabilities (e.g. Blair et al., 2010; Durand & Moskowitz, 2015; Gibson et al., 2010; Martinez et al., 2016; Wood et al., 2011) and young children who are typically developing (e.g. Bellone, et al., 2014; Blair et al., 2010; McLaren & Nelson, 2009; Smith et al., 2011).

#### **Intervention for Challenging Behavior in Preschool Settings**

When challenging behavior has become persistent and is of concern in the preschool classroom, an FBA is necessary to develop and implement a function-based intervention plan. Although many preschoolers demonstrate challenging behavior, most do not engage in persistent challenging behavior that requires intensive and individualized intervention. This is likely due to their ability to use effective social communication skills to get their needs and wants fulfilled. The assumption is that if more social and emotional skills are taught in preschool classrooms, there will be less challenging behavior, especially persistent challenging behavior.

Multiple literature reviews and empirical studies about challenging behavior in preschool settings report that replacement skills are seldom taught (e.g. Blair et al., 2010; Durand & Moskowitz, 2015; Wood et al., 2009). The replacement skills that typically need to be addressed are social and emotional skills, such as communication skills, adultand peer-related social skills, and self-regulation skills (DEC, 2017; Dunlap et al., 2006; Smith & Fox, 2003). These skills, when taught explicitly in classroom settings, can alleviate and potentially eliminate the need for children to engage in challenging behavior (e.g. Moffitt et al., 2011; National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, 2009; National Scientific Council on the Developing Child, 2004; Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). This assumption seems to be widely accepted in the field but is rarely addressed in a direct way when training preschool teachers to be effective in the classroom (e.g. Hemmeter et al., 2006; Hemmeter et al., 2008; Snell et al., 2012). The field of early childhood and early childhood special education would benefit from more specific guidance in teaching social and emotional skills. The research to practice gap still exists, evidenced by articles and syntheses about how to prevent and address challenging behavior for young children occurring in the professional literature for the past several decades (e.g. Arndorfer & Miltenberger, 1993; Dunlap et al., 2006; Powell et al., 2007; Reichle et al., 1996; Smith & Fox, 2003)

With multiple studies demonstrating the effectiveness and efficiency of ameliorating challenging behavior in preschool classrooms using function-based interventions, the challenge remains for actually reducing the frequency and intensity of challenging behavior in preschool settings. Currently, teachers still identify managing behavioral concerns as a common concern and do not feel prepared or equipped to address consistent and persistent challenging behavior that occurs in classroom settings (Hemmeter et al., 2006; Snell et al., 2012; State et al., 2011). Teachers may have limited opportunities to learn about and master how to assess and intervene with challenging behavior, but teachers can be taught what skills to teach in their classrooms to effectively prevent challenging behavior from occurring in the first place (Fox et al., 2003).

There are multiple national centers and programs that exist to help provide information, training, research, and/or literature about how to effectively prevent and/or address young children that exhibit challenging behavior [e.g. Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL); Early Childhood Mental Health Consultation (ECMH); National Center for Pyramid Model Innovations (NCPMI)]. These centers and programs provide a framework from which to embed instruction in social and emotional skills within existing service delivery models.

Although specific interventions to teach social and emotional skills have been studied, there is a paucity of recent research specifying if there are particular social and emotional skills that are the most effective or efficient during the preschool years. The following section reviews the recent evidence on social and emotional skill instruction in preschool classrooms with teachers as interventionists.

#### Interventions and Effects of Social and Emotional Skill Instruction

The function-based assessment and intervention process to ameliorate challenging behavior is resource-intensive. The effort, time, expertise, and personnel required to successfully complete this process is not readily accessible for many early childhood settings (Dunlap & Fox, 2011; Fox et al., 2003). It is important to identify and implement effective and efficient prevention strategies that reduce the need for functionbased assessment and intervention for challenging behavior. An additional challenge is that there are multiple social and emotional skills that can be taught, all of which are seemingly important, and with no individual skill that is critical on its own (Fox et al., 2003). The recent research on social and emotional skill instruction in preschool classroom settings with teachers as implementers describes approaches using either a multi-tiered approach or a specific social and emotional curriculum package. This section will review these two categories of the literature.

#### Multi-Tiered Interventions that Include Social and Emotional Skill Instruction

Multi-tiered interventions (e.g. Fox et al., 2003) utilize a framework where the first or universal tier (Tier 1) includes practices and strategies for the whole identified group (e.g. preschoolers). The second or targeted tier (Tier 2) includes practices and strategies for a smaller percentage of the group that may require more intervention, as they may be at risk for more severe delays or concerns. The third or individualized tier (Tier 3) includes practices, strategies, and processes for an even smaller percentage of the group that requires intensive and individualized intervention that is problematic for the individual or for the environment the individual is in. Several research studies examined the use of a multi-tiered intervention, including social and emotional skill instruction (Tier 2 intervention). Descriptions of these studies follow.

Fox et al. (2011) conducted a single subject study examining training, coaching, and implementation of the Pyramid Model a multi-tiered framework for early childhood settings, in three preschool classrooms. Although implementation of the Pyramid Model, includes more than social and emotional teaching practices, the researchers noted that at baseline, teachers were least likely to implement social and emotional teaching practices prior to training. Participants included three early childhood special education teachers who taught in inclusive public preschool classrooms located on an elementary school campus. Teachers participated in a 3-day (18 hours) training workshop on the Pyramid Model teaching practices followed by coaching sessions and observations twice per week. Coaching focused on increasing the implementation of Pyramid Model teaching practices to a fidelity criterion, and researchers demonstrated a functional relationship between workshop training and coaching with the implementation of Pyramid Model teaching practices.

Specific social skills instruction included teaching: a) behavior expectations, social skills and emotional competencies, friendship skills, express emotions, and problem solving. Specific to the teaching practices on social and emotional teaching strategies, 35 practice indicators were examined for each of the three teachers. Teacher A had low implementation of the social and emotional strategies during baseline with a mean of 31% implementation of the social and emotional indicators; a mean of 29% during the coaching phase; and an increase to a mean of 61% during follow-up. Teacher B had very low implementation at baseline with a mean of 13% implementation of the social and emotional indicators, improved mean implementation to 41% during coaching, and improved further during follow-up to a mean of 63%. Teacher C started out implementing very few of the indicators, with a mean of 3%, and improved to a mean of 32% during the coaching phase. Teacher C did not complete follow-up assessments. Although implementation of teaching practices was measured in this study, no child outcomes were collected. It is unknown if the increase in teaching practices improved children's experiences in the classroom.

A program description of a group coaching model from Fettig and Artman-Meeker (2016) demonstrated that group coaching increased teachers' implementation of Pyramid Model practices, especially in the implementation of predictable transitions, giving positive directions, and social and emotional teaching strategies. The six teachers that participated in this 6-month group coaching model worked in preschool classrooms that served children from an urban low-income setting. Teachers participated in six 2hour training sessions on Pyramid Model teaching practices with two to three weeks between each training session. Group coaching sessions were conducted in between each of the training sessions, were held in person at one of the centers during the school day, and a substitute was provided for the teachers' classroom to allow the teacher to attend the facilitated coaching session. The facilitator for group coaching had a Ph.D. in early childhood special education and had extensive experience in training and coaching on Pyramid Model teaching practices.

Specific social skills instruction included teaching: behavior expectations, social skills and emotional competencies, friendship skills, express emotions, and problem solving. Participating teachers improved their implementation of all of the specified social and emotional teaching practices in the classroom using this group coaching model. For behavior expectations, teachers' mean implementation was 31% at baseline and improved to a mean of 40.5% at post-assessment (after the last group coaching session). Teaching social skills and emotional competencies improved from a mean of 37.5% at baseline to 66.7% at post-assessment. Teaching friendship skills improved from a mean of 44.5% at baseline to 55.6% at post-assessment. Teaching children to express emotions increased from a mean of 41.7% at baseline to 66.7% at post-assessment. Finally, teaching problem solving increased from a mean of 26% at baseline to 50% at post. Although child outcomes were not directly measured, teachers anecdotally reported they spent less time addressing challenging behavior and fewer children engaged in persistent challenging behavior.

Hemmeter et al. (2016) conducted a cluster-randomized controlled potential efficacy trial with teachers randomly assigned to an experimental condition. Repeated measures were collected for both teachers and children in public preschool classrooms, and 40 teachers and 494 children participated across two school years. Intervention teachers participated in 3 days of workshop training (19.5 hours) on Pyramid Model practices followed by weekly individual coaching and observation sessions for 12 to 16 weeks. Control teachers participated in workshop training at the end of the school year after final data were collected. Focus groups were conducted at the end of both study years with intervention teachers to share their experiences and perspectives about the professional development they received. Responses were solicited about the impact of intervention on their teaching, capacity to support children, and usefulness of Pyramid model practices.

Specific social skills instruction included teaching: behavior expectations, social skills and emotional competencies, friendship skills, express emotions, and problem solving. As measured by the Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT; Hemmeter et al., 2014), teachers in the intervention group implemented more Pyramid Model practices on average at each of the four waves of measurement compared to control group teachers. At wave 4, near the end of the school year, intervention teachers implemented an average of 69.9% of the practices compared to control group teachers implementing an average of 44.2% of the practices. In intervention classrooms, teachers demonstrated higher levels of emotional support and behavior management, in contrast to their control group counterparts as measured by the Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS; Pianta et al., 2008). Intervention teachers rated children in their classrooms, as measured by the SSIS (Gresham & Elliott, 2008). Additionally, children in intervention classrooms

with elevated risk for behavior disorders demonstrated improvements in observed social interaction skills compared to children in control group classrooms. These child outcomes were measured by the Focal Child Observation System (FCOS), a direct observation data collection measure developed for this study that collects data on focal children's social interaction skills and challenging behavior during a 60-minute observational period. Children in the intervention group demonstrated a mean of 19.9 social interactions or responses compared to 15.6 for children in the control group, and a mean of 8.1 for frequency of challenging behavior for children in the control group versus 7.1 for children in the intervention group.

Stanton-Chapman and colleagues (2016) conducted a study in ten Head Start classrooms to evaluate the effectiveness of a three-tiered model of positive behavior support. Classrooms participated and implemented both Tier 1 (universal) and Tier 2 (social skills) strategies, and two classrooms had children with more individual needs and implemented Tier 3 (individualized) interventions. Different from the other multi-tiered interventions studied, this study implemented a shortened version of each tier, while simultaneously incorporating a problem-solving model at each tier designed to improve classroom routines and individual behavioral concerns. A workshop training was provided for each tier, followed by consulting for each tier to support implementation fidelity. The workshop for each of the three tiers lasted 1-2 hours and covered training content specific to that tier.

Tier 2 strategies specific to social and emotional skill instruction included: initiating with peers, responding to peer verbalizations, use your friend's name to gain attention, and take turns in play or conversation. Child outcome data were only collected for children who received Tier 2 (n = 9) or Tier 3 (n = 2) support. All nine children who received Tier 2 support demonstrated significant increases in their social skill abilities and significant decreases in their problem behavior as rated by the teacher on the Social Skills Rating System (SSRS; Gresham & Elliott, 1990) and the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL-Teacher Form; Achenbach & Rescorla, 2000). CBCL results revealed significant decreases in externalizing and total problem behavior from pre- to post-intervention, with all children demonstrating decreases in problem behavior as reported on the CBCL.

To increase the capacity for early childhood teachers to support social and emotional development and reduce barriers to training, Connors-Burrow et al. (2017) created the Reaching Educators and Children (REACH) program. REACH provided onsite training on basic practices from each tier of the Pyramid Model for providers who are "hard to reach" and have minimal knowledge about how to support social and emotional development. Recruitment for participation in REACH was targeted to early childhood programs in areas where no trainings in social and emotional development had been conducted in the prior year, nor were scheduled for the future. 30 childcare centers participated, of which the majority (56.7%) were private, licensed childcare centers that did not participate in the state's quality rating system, and where the majority of teachers did not have degrees nor had attended training on social emotional development for young children. During the six-month intervention, center directors attended two workshops, and teachers attended 6 workshops, 1.5 hours each, monthly for six months. The teacher workshops were provided in person at the childcare center twice within the same day or on successive days to allow all teachers and staff to attend. Between each

workshop training, individual coaching occurred for each classroom to support implementation of the teaching strategies covered during the workshop.

The specific social and emotional skills that were taught during the workshops and supported through coaching included teaching: feeling words, validating and naming feelings, feeling concepts, problem-solving method, friendship skills, and calm down techniques. 139 toddler and preschool teachers participated in the study, demonstrating significant improvements in teachers' interactions with children and use of social and emotional teaching strategies. Researchers adapted five items from the Preschool Mental Health Climate Scale (PMHCS; Gilliam, 2008) related to teaching feelings and problemsolving during interactions with children. Using the PMHCS, teachers demonstrated significant increases in teaching feelings and problem solving and observations of child behavior in classrooms showed increases in children's social and emotional skills and significant decreases in verbal aggression. Four items from the Child Interactions subscale from the PMHCS were modified to measure children's prosocial behavior, rated on a 4-point Likert-type scale. Child results from the modified subscale suggest small to moderate significant increases in prosocial behaviors and significant reductions in verbal aggression.

Of the five studies that examined a broad intervention of prevention and promotion strategies that included social and emotional teaching practices, all demonstrated increases in teachers' implementation of social and emotional teaching practices (Connors-Burrow et al., 2017; Fettig & Artman-Meeker, 2016; Fox et al., 2011; Hemmeter et al., 2016; Stanton-Chapman et al., 2016), and the two that included child outcome measures demonstrated increases in social and emotional skills and decreases in challenging behavior (Hemmeter et al., 2016; Stanton-Chapman et al., 2016).

#### Curriculum Interventions that Include Social and Emotional Skill Instruction

Curriculum interventions are "packaged" interventions on a specified topic or skill. The curriculum packages that are being reviewed here include teacherimplemented social and emotional skill instruction for preschool aged children in classroom settings. These curricula are all designed to be delivered at the classroom level for all children.

Domitrovich et al. (2007) conducted a randomized evaluation of an adaptation of the Promoting Alternative Thinking Strategies (PATHS) curriculum. PATHS is a universal social emotional curriculum designed to improve children's social competence and reduce problem behavior. Twenty Head Start classrooms participated, with 10 classrooms in intervention for a 9-month period. Intervention included 2 days of workshop training followed by monthly classroom visits, technical assistance support, and monitoring of implementation. Teachers implemented 30 weekly lessons during large group time and additional activities were offered during the day to provide additional opportunities to practice and generalize the skills taught during large group.

The specific social and emotional skills taught in PATHS include: giving complements, basic and advanced feelings, self-control strategy, and problem solving. The researchers report that Head Start teachers were able to deliver a universal social emotional curriculum and improve their classroom management skills in less than one school year. Both teachers and parents reported improvements in children's social emotional competence, as measured by the Preschool and Kindergarten Behavior Scales
(Merrell, 1996) and Head Start Competence Scale (Domitrovich et al., 2001). Children demonstrated increases in emotion knowledge: receptive emotion vocabularies (as measured by a revised version of the Recognition of Emotion Concepts subtest from the Kusché Emotional Inventory (KEI); Kusché, 1984), more accurate identification of facial expressions (measured by the Assessment of Children's Emotions Scales; Schultz et al., 2001), and gains in abilities to correctly identify situations that elicit different basic emotions (assessed with the Denham Puppet Interview; Denham, 1986). In addition, children were less likely to exhibit a bias toward incorrectly identifying emotional expressions as angry (evaluated using the KEI; Kusché, 1984).

Webster-Stratton et al. (2008) conducted a randomized evaluation of the Incredible Years (IY) Teacher Classroom Management and Child Social and Emotion curriculum, also known as Dinosaur School. This efficacy study includes Head Start classrooms as well as kindergarten and first grade classrooms, all identified for inclusion due to high rates of poverty at the schools. The Dinosaur School curriculum was originally designed as a clinic-based treatment model but was adapted for use by teachers as a preventative (universal) model for preschool and early-elementary (kindergarten, first) grades. Intervention included four days of training workshops for teachers, offered monthly, where teachers learned about classroom management strategies. Teachers also learned about the Dina Dinosaur Social Skills and Problem Solving Curriculum, which includes versions for preschool and primary grades. The curriculum includes 30 lessons per year with lesson plans for instruction twice a week in the classroom. Lessons include a 15-20 minute large group activity followed by small group activities to practice the skill (about 20 minutes). Research staff co-led lessons with teachers to ensure fidelity of intervention. Of the 120 classrooms that participated in the study, 33 of the participating classrooms were Head Start, including preschool-aged children.

The specific social and emotional skills taught included: emotional literacy, empathy, and perspective taking; interpersonal problem solving; anger management; social skills; and communication skills. The researchers developed the Teacher Coder Impressions Inventory (TCI) to assess a teacher's style and classroom management skills via 71 likert-type questions that result in five summary scores. Intervention teachers were significantly different from control teachers in four out of five of the TCI variables (harsh/critical, warm/affectionate, inconsistent/permissive, and social/emotional). Moreover, intervention teachers used more specific teaching strategies that addressed social and emotional skills than teachers in control classrooms. In regard to students, those in intervention classrooms had significant improvements in emotional selfregulation, social competence, and conduct problems as measured by the School Readiness and Conduct Problems: Coder Observation of Adaption-Revised (COCA-R), an observational version of the TOCA-R (Werthamer-Larsson et al., 1990); and the Multiple Option Observation System for Experimental Studies (MOOSES; Tapp et al., 1995). Interestingly, children who were initially at higher risk seemed to benefit the most from intervention. In addition, the researchers reported strong teacher-level effects. Students in classrooms with a specific teacher changed more than students in classrooms with a different teacher. Similar to other outcomes, classroom groups of children with a specific teacher that demonstrated the most change were classroom groups that needed the most improvement to start.

Steed and Durand (2013) conducted a randomized group experiment with 17 classrooms assigned to the Optimistic Teaching or traditional Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS) group. All teachers received eight individual coaching sessions that covered information about eight PBIS topics, with coaching sessions at the teacher's school or classroom for approximately 40 minutes each session. For teachers in the Optimistic Teaching group, coaches integrated a cognitive-behavioral intervention into each coaching session that addressed teachers' attitudes about teaching, self-talk, feeling about children's challenging behavior, and their optimism about impacting children's development. Negative feelings discussed during coaching sessions for teachers in the Optimistic Teaching group were addressed directly, with coaches asking teachers to reflect on the impact of those negative feelings on their own behaviors and the subsequent impacts on their students. Coaches encouraged teachers to replace negative self-talk with more positive self-talk and address feelings of their ability to affect behavioral changes in the classroom.

The specific social and emotional skills addressed during coaching included friendship and social skills, emotional literacy, and problem solving. Using the Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT; Hemmeter et al., 2014), the Optimistic Teaching group teachers improved on items related to teaching social skills and involving families in their children's social emotional development as compared to the PBIS only teachers. Steed and Durand report that these two items are among the least implemented aspects of PBIS and most resistant to teacher change. When examining group differences of children's social emotional competence using the teacher report classroom-wide screening subscale of the System Performance Screening Guide (SSiS-PSG; Elliott & Gresham, 2007), the researchers identified significantly more children with serious emotional struggles in PBIS only classrooms.

To address the prevalence of children's antisocial behavior, Feil et al. (2014) conducted an efficacy trial in three states for a home and school intervention for preschool aged children with challenging behavior. The 59 teachers who participated in the usual-care control condition received a half-day workshop training on universal classroom management strategies based on the principles of positive behavior support. General strategies were covered, including positive classroom environments and reinforcing appropriate behavior. 65 teachers participated in the experimental condition, Preschool First Step to Success (PFS), an adapted version of a secondary-level intervention, First Step to Success (Walker et al., 1998). First Step is a collaborative home and school intervention curriculum to address children at risk for oppositional or conduct disorders. The teacher, parents, and First Step behavioral coach target classroom success skills and prosocial behaviors that promote friendship skills for an identified child with challenging behavior. Teachers attend a full day workshop training that covers universal classroom management strategies based on the principles of positive behavior support and the PFS intervention. Classroom interventions include a schedule of direct instruction of skills with the identified child, modeling of the implementation procedures for the teacher, and continued coaching. The home-based component consists of a 6- to 8-week intervention where the First Step coach meets weekly with parents to teach the school success skills.

Specific social and emotional skills taught during PFS include sharing, problem solving, and friendship skills. Teacher- and parent-reported outcomes for the

intervention group improved statistically significant for the PFS group compared with children in the control group, as measured by the Social Skills Improvement System (SSiS) rating scales (Gresham & Elliott, 2008) and an adapted version of the Early Screening Project (ESP; Walker et al., 1995). Both child outcome measures were analyzed by calculating the improvement index for each outcome, evaluating the significance of PFS on child behavior change. Children in PFS classrooms were reported as a mean +31 percentile points on the ESP Adaptive Behavior Index (ESP-ABI) and a mean +28 percentile points on the SSiS social skills scale, compared to a mean improvement of +23 percentile points for children in control classrooms. Although positive improvements on all outcomes were reported in both home and school settings, greater improvements were demonstrated in the classroom (mean +28 percentile points) compared to at home (mean +14 percentile points). Improvements in problem behavior outcomes ranged from a mean +26 to +29 percentile points for PFS classrooms, compared to a mean +24 percentile points for the control group. Parents reported a mean improvement of +11 percentile points for social skills and +17 percentile points for problem behavior. Improvements occurred in both settings; however greater mean improvement was reported in classrooms (+28 percentile points) than in homes (+14 percentile points).

Downer et al. (2018) developed an early childhood consultation model, Learning to Objectively Observe Kids (LOOK), that provides data-driven, video-based support to teachers in preschool classrooms. The randomized controlled trial study was conducted in 45 Head Start classrooms across 6 centers with 45 teachers and 143 children participating. Twenty-three control group classrooms and teachers spent the school year in business-as-usual, as a comparison to 22 intervention classrooms and teachers that participated in the LOOK intervention. The LOOK intervention consisted of: 1) online learning modules on the implementation of evidence-based strategies to improve classroom engagement; 2) assessment of children's classroom engagement across routine contexts to inform the selection of relevant teaching strategies and assessment of which social and emotional teaching strategies were already being implemented in the classroom; 3) using assessments to identify recommendations of evidence based social and emotional teaching strategies to include in the teacher's action plan, facilitated by a LOOK consultant; and 4) using LOOK's bi-weekly guided video review process to observe children's engagement and analyze their role in the availability of learning opportunities.

Specific social and emotional skills taught using LOOK include supporting emotion regulation, problem-solving skills, and friendship skills. Children in LOOK classrooms demonstrated small to moderately sized reductions in negative task engagement, with children less negative when engaging with peers and teachers. For children in LOOK classrooms, teachers reported statistically significant moderate reductions in negative task engagement (-0.40), measured by the Adjustment Scales for Preschool Intervention (ASPI) scale (Lutz, Fantuzzo, & McDermott, 2002) and moderately sized statistically significant reductions in disruptiveness with peers (-0.32), measured by the Penn Interactive Peer Play Scale (PIPPS-T; Fantuzzo et al., 1998). Furthermore, LOOK teachers reported statistically significant moderate improvements in peer interaction skills (0.42) on the Penn Interactive Peer Play Scale (PIPPS-T; Fantuzzo et al., 1998). Although not directly observed, LOOK teachers reported target children demonstrating more positive interactions with peers and more effectively regulating their own emotions.

Of the five studies that examined classroom-wide curriculum interventions that included social and emotional teaching practices, all demonstrated improvements in teachers' implementation of social and emotional teaching practices and improvements in children's social and emotional skills (Dometrovich et al., 2007; Downer et al., 2018; Feil et al., 2014; Steed & Durand, 2013; Webster-Stratton et al., 2008). Furthermore, Downer et al. (2018), Feil et al. (2014) and Webster-Stratton et al. (2008) demonstrated improvements in children's challenging behavior.

### Summary

Understanding the contribution of the social context on children's challenging behavior and the need for the social environment to be responsive to challenging behavior is critically important to effectively preventing and reducing challenging behavior in preschool classrooms. Furthermore, an effective social context and environment is fundamental to teaching appropriate social and emotional skills as a preventative practice, and more importantly, to implement social and emotional teaching strategies to ameliorate challenging behavior in preschool classroom settings. The studies reviewed in this chapter provide ample evidence that teachers can effectively provide instruction on social and emotional skills. The evidence also suggests that children's outcomes are improved when social and emotional skills are taught in preschool classrooms. Children are able to improve their social and emotional skills and several studies also reported reductions in challenging behavior. To date, there are no known studies that specifically examine the effects of social and emotional teaching strategies implemented classroom-wide that reduce the challenging behavior of preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. Moreover, it is not clear which social and emotional skills, if any, may be more effective at reducing challenging behavior, especially for preschoolers who already exhibit persistent challenging behavior in classroom settings.

Children, families, teachers, and communities need and deserve more guidance in the area of preventing and addressing challenging behavior. One area to explore that may be helpful is to examine if there are particular social and emotional skills that might be more impactful or effective when taught during the early childhood years. The review of the current literature base does not include research about if and/or how much social and emotional skill instruction impacts behavioral outcomes and social skills of preschool children with challenging behavior. This study sought to examine if particular social and emotional skills correlated with greater changes in challenging behavior and greater changes in social skills when social and emotional skills were directly taught in the classroom. Specifically, this study sought to examine if there is a relationship between social and emotional teaching practices and greater changes in children's challenging behavior, and if a relationship exists between those social and emotional teaching practices and greater changes in children's social skills.

This chapter provided background information summarizing the understanding of young children who exhibit challenging behavior, what social and emotional skills are being taught in preschool classrooms, and the effects of teaching social and emotional skills to preschoolers in classrooms. The next chapter will describe the purpose, design, and description of the quantitative study designed to answer the research questions.

### **CHAPTER THREE – METHODOLOGY**

Chapter Three describes the purpose and design of this quantitative study. This correlational study used data obtained from an extant archival data set of the randomized controlled trial (RCT) efficacy study of Prevent-Teach-Reinforce for Young Children (PTR-YC). PTR-YC is a tier 3 individualized intervention for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior that was studied in two western states of the United States between 2012-2016. Parameters of the original RCT, including an overview of the participants, design, and results, are described after the research questions. The variables for the current study, measures used, and data analyses are described in detail.

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine if children with persistent challenging behavior made greater changes in challenging behavior and social skills when social and emotional skills were taught in the classroom. Data were examined for relationships of the whole group of RCT participants, the control group, and the intervention group. This study seeks to examine two primary research questions.

### **Research Questions**

1. What is the relationship between social and emotional teaching practices implemented in a preschool classroom and changes in children's challenging behavior for the whole group, control group, or intervention group?

- a. Is there a relationship between each independent key teaching practice and changes in children's challenging behavior for the whole group, control group, or intervention group?
  - Is there a relationship between *teaching behavior expectations* and changes in preschool children's challenging behavior?

- 2) Is there a relationship between *teaching social and emotional competencies* and changes in preschool children's challenging behavior?
- 3) Is there a relationship between *teaching friendship skills* and changes in preschool children's challenging behavior?
- 4) Is there a relationship between *teaching children to express emotions* and changes in preschool children's challenging behavior?
- 5) Is there a relationship between *teaching problem solving* and changes in preschool children's challenging behavior?

The hypothesis was that higher levels of social and emotional teaching practices implemented in a preschool classroom correlate with greater changes in children's challenging behavior. The null hypothesis was that no correlation exists.

2. What is the relationship between social and emotional teaching practices implemented in a preschool classroom and changes in children's social skills for the whole group, control group, or intervention group?

- a. Is there a relationship between each independent key teaching practice and changes in children's social skills for the whole group, control group, or intervention group?
  - Is there a relationship between *teaching behavior expectations* and changes in preschool children's social skills?
  - 2) Is there a relationship between *teaching social and emotional competencies* and changes in preschool children's social skills?

- 3) Is there a relationship between *teaching friendship skills* and changes in preschool children's social skills?
- 4) Is there a relationship between *teaching children to express emotions* and changes in preschool children's social skills?
- 5) Is there a relationship between *teaching problem solving* and changes in preschool children's social skills?

The hypothesis was that higher levels of social and emotional teaching practices implemented in a preschool classroom correlate with greater changes in children's social skills. The null hypothesis was that no correlation exists.

### **RCT Data Base**

Data for this study were obtained from an extant archival data set of the randomized controlled trial (RCT) efficacy study of Prevent-Teach-Reinforce for Young Children (PTR-YC), a tertiary individualized intervention for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. A detailed and thorough description of the RCT and intervention results are published (see Dunlap et al., 2018). This section will provide a brief overview of the RCT and results, to provide context for the original study and findings.

The RCT was completed in two western states of the United States from 2012-2016 in public and private preschool classrooms. Teacher-child dyads participated on a schedule similar to fall and spring semesters that lasted 4 months, with a total of seven participant cohort groups over the five years of the study. Baseline data were collected over a two-week period in the classroom for the randomly assigned intervention and control group study conditions. Baseline data included both teacher- and child-level measures. Once baseline data were collected and complete, teachers in the intervention group (PTR-YC) began the PTR-YC process. Teachers who were randomly assigned to the control group were able to implement their typical classroom practices, as well as access any other types of services or supports that were available to them through their school or program. The research team personnel provided no direct services, information, or support for the control group. Post-test data were collected from both study groups three months after baseline data collection was complete. The total elapsed time from pre- to post-test was 4 months, regardless of group assignment.

The PTR-YC model is a manualized process of individualized positive behavior support designed for implementation by school personnel in early care and education settings with preschool-aged children who exhibit persistent challenging behavior (Dunlap et al., 2013). The individualized process includes five steps, with forms and process checklists to increase the fidelity of use of the PTR-YC model. The steps include: 1) teaming and goal setting, 2) data collection, 3) functional behavioral assessment, 4) behavior intervention plan, and 5) using data and next steps.

Regarding the results of the RCT, the children in the PTR-YC intervention group demonstrated statistically significant decreases in challenging behavior and increases in social skills compared to preschool children in the control group. The Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS; Gresham & Elliott, 2008) problem behavior and social skills subscales were used to measure preschoolers' challenging behavior and social skills. These data were collected at pre- and post-test, providing scores for each child in both study conditions. More detailed information and psychometrics about the SSIS is provided in the Measures section, below. Additional results from the RCT included direct observation of challenging behavior, revealing statistically significant interaction effect between time and group from pre- to post-test. Direct observation of engaged time also revealed a statistically significant interaction effect between time and group from pre- to post-test. Social validity responses from teachers indicated that the PTR-YC process was acceptable, likely to produce favorable outcomes, and unlikely to have negative side effects. Social validity from parents of children who participated indicated acceptable and positive effects of the PTR-YC process.

This section provided a brief overview of the RCT design and results. A detailed and thorough description of the RCT design and intervention results can be found in the published main effects article (Dunlap et al., 2018). Other data were collected during the RCT. One of the child-level measures for the RCT is the SSIS (Gresham & Elliott, 2008) problem (challenging) behavior and social skills subscales, collected at pre- and post-test. The SSIS data from the RCT are used in the current study. The Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT: Hemmeter et al., 2014) measures teacher's implementation of a social and emotional teaching framework and was collected at pre-test for the RCT. The data from the TPOT were not used in the main analyses for the RCT but are used for the current study. The next section provides an overview of the variables available from the extant archival data base and detailed descriptions of the participants.

### **RCT Data Base Variables Used in the Current Study**

The PTR-YC RCT data base includes demographic information about participating teachers and children, which are detailed and summarized below. The SSIS data collected during the RCT demonstrated that the four-month period was enough time to demonstrate statistically significant changes in the problem behavior and social skills subscales of the SSIS for the preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior (Dunlap et al., 2018). The SSIS is described in the Measures section, below.

A potential moderating variable that was collected during pre-test data collection includes the Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT; Hemmeter et al., 2014). The TPOT (described in the Measures section, below) is an instrument used to assess a teacher's implementation of Pyramid Model practices, a multi-tiered framework for supporting the social and emotional development of children in early childhood settings.

The data extracted from the RCT data base and used for this study includes the TPOT and SSIS Rating Scales subscale scores. The description of how the data were extracted from the data base and used in the current study is detailed in a later section, Data Collection.

### **Participants**

Participants in the RCT included preschool teachers (n=108) and preschool-aged children (3-5 years old) with persistent challenging behavior (n=168).

*Selected teachers.* Preschool teachers with children in their classrooms who demonstrated challenging behaviors volunteered to participate in the RCT. Teachers provided informed consent and identified children in their classrooms with challenging behaviors. The 108 participating teachers worked in classrooms in northern Nevada or

central Colorado, with 72 teachers in public preschool (state-funded preschool or early childhood special education), 20 teachers in Head Start and 16 teachers in private childcare. Teachers who participated did so with only one child in their classroom at a time, but could participate in multiple cohorts (semesters) with a different child each time the teacher participated. Thirty-six teachers participated in two or more cohorts, with participation possible in any of the seven total cohorts of the RCT, dependent upon having a child in their classroom with challenging behavior. When teachers were randomly assigned to a study group upon initial participation, teachers remained in that group for the duration of the study. In other words, if a teacher was assigned to the control group (or intervention group), that teacher remained in the control group (or intervention group) regardless of how many cohorts in which the teacher participated.

Most teachers were female (97%) and varied widely in experience and education. Teachers who participated ranged from first-year teachers to those with over twenty years of teaching experience in preschool classrooms, and had educational backgrounds ranging from a high school diploma to master's degrees. Participating teachers in both study groups were similar in their characteristics. Demographic information about the participating teachers was extracted from the archival data set in summary form, reported here. Additional details of teacher demographics were not available for analyses for the current study. See Table 1 on the following page for a summary of demographic information for teachers that participated.

### Table 1

### Teacher Demographics by Gender, Classroom Type, and Participation in 2 or More

Cohorts
---------

Teacher Demographics	n (%)				
Gender					
Female	104 (97)				
Male	4 (3)				
Classroom Type					
Public Preschool	72 (67)				
Head Start	20 (18)				
Private Childcare	16 (15)				
Participated in 2 or more cohorts	36 (33)				

*Selected children.* Children (3 – 5 years old) from the classrooms were eligible to participate if they (a) demonstrated challenging behaviors in the classroom at least twice a week, (b) demonstrated challenging behavior in the classroom for at least the past six weeks (or in other settings for at least three months), and (c) were not regularly absent from the classroom more than once a week. Children were selected by teacher nomination, with teachers identifying children with persistent challenging behavior in the classroom and obtaining parental consent for their child to participate in the study. Once parental consent was obtained for a child with challenging behavior, the research team member would initiate the study process.

Of the 168 preschool children who participated, most were White or Hispanic males. Almost half of the children had an Individualized Education Plan (IEP), identified

with a disability and/or developmental delay. Children were mostly in public preschool classrooms, but also included Head Start and private childcare classrooms. Participating children ranged from 34 to 72 months old at baseline data collection, and most spoke English as a primary language at home. As with the teachers, child characteristics were essentially identical across study groups and were extracted from the data set in summary form, reported here. Additional details of child demographics were not available for analyses for the current study. See Table 2 on the following page for details on demographic information for children that participated.

# Table 2

Child Demographics by Gender, Ethnicity, Classroom Type, IEP Status, and English as

Child Demographics	n (%)					
Gender						
Male	138 (82)					
Female	30 (18)					
Ethnicity						
White	77 (65)					
Hispanic	27 (23)					
Black	7 (6)					
Asian or Other	7 (6)					
Classroom Type						
Public Preschool	117 (70)					
Head Start	25 (15)					
Private Childcare	25 (15)					
IEP Status						
Yes	75 (45)					
English as primary home language	90 (53)					

Primary Home Language

### Measures

### **Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool**

The Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool for Preschool Classrooms, Research Edition (TPOT; Hemmeter et al., 2014) is an assessment instrument designed to measure a preschool teacher's implementation of Pyramid Model teaching practices. The Pyramid Model is a multi-tiered framework of evidence-based teaching practices to support young children's social and emotional competence and address challenging behavior. The Pyramid Model is the early childhood version of schoolwide positive behavior interventions and supports (PBIS; Horner et al., 2005), which is inspired from and modeled after the public health tiered model of promotion, prevention, and intervention (Gordon, 1983; Simeonsson, 1991). The Pyramid Model is comprised of universal, secondary, and tertiary teaching practices to teach and support social and emotional skills for all children, targeted practices to teach and support children at risk for developmental delays, and individualized intervention for children with persistent challenging behavior (Fox et al., 2003). The TPOT assesses a preschool teacher's implementation of Pyramid Model teaching practices, which includes indicators measuring the explicit instruction of social, emotional, and behavioral skills.

TPOT data collected from 130 preschool classrooms prior to any training on Pyramid Model practices revealed that on average, mean implementation of the key teaching practices measuring teaching behavior expectations, social skills and emotional competencies, problem solving, and friendship skills were low at 30% or lower (Hemmeter et al., 2013). From a study of 50 preschool classrooms, psychometric properties include minimal error variance (less than 1%) from generalizability analyses and a high G coefficient (.94) averaged over occasions and raters (Hemmeter et al., 2011). TPOT scores are reliable and consistent, with high interrater score reliability reported across 50 classrooms with pairs of trained raters and stable scores across TPOT administrations. Comparisons to the Classrooms Assessment Scoring System (CLASS; Pianta, La Paro, & Hamre, 2008) include Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients between TPOT and CLASS for emotional support (.70), classroom organization (.73) and instructional support (.76).

TPOT administration requires a 2-hour observation of teaching practices in the classroom and a 15- to 20-minute interview with the teacher by a trained observer. The TPOT includes 14 key teaching practices with a total of 108 skill indicators, 16 red flag items, 7 indicators about environmental arrangement, and multiple indicators if challenging behavior occurs during the observation. Indicators are scored yes or no by a trained observer, scoring "yes" if the teaching practice is observed in use in the classroom and "no" if the practice is not used in the classroom. For each key teaching practice, the indicators measuring basic strategies for that practice and progressing to more difficult strategies as the indicators increase. The teaching practices that are less often scored "Yes" are those that require explicit teaching (e.g. teaching behavior expectations, problem solving, friendship skills).

The first eight key teaching practices are scored by observing the teacher engaging in those teaching practices in the classroom during the observation period. Three of the key teaching practices are scored by observation and interview responses. The final three key teaching practices are scored by interview responses only. If the key teaching practice indicators are not observed or reported, it is marked no. The TPOT also includes 16 red flag items, 7 indicators about environmental arrangement, and one item with multiple indicators if challenging behaviors occur in the classroom during the observation period.

For the purpose of the current study, only five of the 14 Key Teaching Practices subscale items were used, the practices that specifically measure teaching of social and emotional skills. These Key Teaching Practices include: (a) Teaching Behavior Expectations, with 7 indicators that measure proactively teaching children what behavior is expected rather than responding to challenging behavior when it occurs; (b) Teaching Social Skills and Emotional Competencies, with 8 indicators that measure practices for teaching a range of social skills and emotional competencies; (c) Teaching Friendship Skills, with 9 indicators that measure practices for teaching how to interact with other children, organize play, request materials, and work together; (d) Teaching Children to Express Emotions, with 8 indicators that measure practices for teaching children how to communicate their emotions in appropriate ways; and (e) Teaching Problem Solving, with 9 indicators that measure practices for teaching children the steps of a social probem solving process; for a total of 41 indicators. The first two key teaching practices analyzed for this study, teaching behavior expectations and teaching social skills and emotional competencies, are scored by observation only, marked "yes" if the trained observer saw the teacher demonstrating those indicator items. The remaining three key teaching practices (friendship skills, expressing emotions, and problem solving) are scored by observation and/or interview, with any observed behaviors superseding what teachers report during the interview. If the trained observer witnesses the use of the teaching

practice indicator, "yes" is marked on the TPOT scoring protocol. If the indicator is not observed during the TPOT observation but the teacher describes use of the teaching practice indicator during the interview portion of the TPOT, the observer marks "yes" for that indicator. If the observed behavior contradicts what is reported during the interview, the item is scored based on what is observed. The implementation of these 41 indicators from the TPOT that specifically address teaching social and emotional skills were examined and included in the current data analyses. See Appendix A for an excerpt of the TPOT, with the five Key Teaching Practices and indicators used for this study.

#### **Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales**

The Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales (SSIS; Gresham & Elliott, 2008) is a screening and assessment tool for identifying students with significant social skill delays/deficits and identifying interventions for those students. The SSIS replaces the *Social Skills Rating System* (SSRS; Gresham & Elliott, 1990), which was a widely used tool for identifying students with social skills deficits. While preserving the strengths of the SSRS, the SSIS adds improvements in detecting behavior change in preschool-aged children, enhanced psychometric properties (incuding a 4-point frequeny rating scale), updated national norms, and a direct link to interventions (Frey et al., 2011).

The SSIS measures seven domains of social skills functioning and five domains of problem (challenging) behavior of children in their classroom. The SSIS also measures academic competence for students from kindergarten through 12<sup>th</sup> Grade, so for the preschoolers in this study, this part of the tool was not used. The Social Skills Subscale measures 46 skills on a four-point frequency scale (never, seldom, often, almost always) and three-point importance scale (not important, important, critical). Appropriate social skills are learned behaviors that demonstrate positive interactions with others which are incompatible with inappropriate interactions. The Social Skills Subscale includes common social skills related to communication, cooperation, assertion, responsibility, emphathy, engagement, and self-control. The Problem Behavior Subscale measures 30 skills on a four-point frequency scale (never, seldom, often, almost always). Problem (challenging) behavior impedes a student's ability to learn and/or demonstrate appropriate social skills. The Problem Behavior Subscale includes problem behaviors related to externalizing behaviors, bullying, hyperactivity/inattention, internalizing behaviors, and behaviors indicative of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD).

The SSIS was used because it is a brief assessment that efficiently and effectively identifies preschoolers who exhibit challenging behavior (indicating a lack of appropriate social skills) and requires no training for administration. The SSIS includes four types of forms: teacher, parent, student (ages 8-12), and student (ages 13-18). The Teacher Form was used, with teachers indicating the frequency of each social skill and problem behavior on a 4-point scale (never, seldom, often, almost always) and importance of each skill to the student's development or success in the classroom on a 3-point scale (not important, important, and critical). Teachers were instructed to complete the form in a single session, that it would take about 15 - 20 minutes, to mark every item, and to provide a rating for each skill or behavior based on the student's behavior over the past two months. Forms were left with teachers to complete when they could dedicate time and attention to do so and a research team member collected the form within the data collection timeline. Teachers completed the SSIS about the child's behavior at baseline and four-month post-test. Raw scores were calculated for each child for the Social Skills

and Problem Behavior Subscales. The pre- and post-test scores were used to calculate a change score by subtracting the pre-test score from the post-test score. This numerical value indicates the amount of improvement in problem (challenging) behavior and social skills for each child during the four-month time period. For problem (challenging) behavior, lower scores indicate less problem behavior and negative change scores indicate improvement in problem behavior, or that their problem behavior raw score was higher at baseline and decreased at post-test. For the Social Skills Subscale, higher scores indicate the presense of more social skills and positive change scores indicate improvements in social skills, or that their social skills raw score was lower at pre-test and increased at post-test.

The SSIS Rating Scales were developed and standardized to classify students as representative of social skills strengths, social skills performance deficits, or acquisition deficits with or without competing problem behaviors. These clasifications allow school personnel to easily identify students with deficits/delays in social skills and link specific behaviors or skills that can be taught using a detailed intervention plan with direct links to the SSIS Intervention Guide (Elliott & Gresham, 2008). The authors of SSIS report very high internal consistency (.96) and 6-week test reliability (.90; Frey et al., 2011). The authors also report validity evidence along with separate-sex (gender) norms to neutralize any overall sex differences. The SSIS correlates highly with the Child Behavior Checklist (Achenbach & Rescorla, 2000; .81) and the Walker-McConnell Scale of Social Competence (Walker, 1995; .75). See Appendix B for a copy of the SSIS.

### **Data Collection for Current Study**

The archival data described previously was used for this study's data collection. Data from the Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT; Hemmeter et al., 2014) was scored independently for the current study. The study described here used 41 of the 108 indicators, from the five key teaching practices that specifically measure the direct teaching of social and emotional skills. The specified TPOT indicators were calculated for each participant for each key teaching practice, independently. Each key teaching practice was scored and recorded, as well as the summative score of the combined five key teaching practices. The summative score was a total score out of a possible 41 indicators. Each key teaching practice had a variable number of indicators (from 7 to 9) and was recorded by indicating how many indicators were scored "yes" on the TPOT for each key teaching practice. The researcher reviewed each TPOT scoring protocol, found the sections of the specified indicators, and counted how many of the specified indicators were marked "yes" and "no" for each teacher for each indicator. Scores indicating how many indicators were marked "yes" and "no" were recorded for each key teaching practice (from 7 to 9), and scores for each key teaching practice were added up and recorded for an overall score (out of 41). The TPOT raw scores were out of a total of 41 indicators, and the total raw score for each teacher was documented on the data sheet, input into SPSS, and used in the data analyses. Independent observers calculated over 39% of the TPOT scoring protocols to assess interrater reliability, with reliability on data collection and input at 100%.

Data for the Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales (SSIS; Gresham & Elliott, 2008) were extracted from the extant archival data set. SSIS data for the problem

behavior and social skills subscales were collected and documented for each child who participated, using pre-test and post-test raw scores. For each participant, their pre- and post-test scores were recorded on the data sheet for each subscale, and a difference score was calculated. The difference score was calculated by taking the pre-test SSIS subscale score and subtracting it from the post-test SSIS subscale score. The difference scores for the problem behavior and social skills subscales were recorded on the data sheet, input into SPSS, and used in the data analyses.

The data base for the current study contained (a) TPOT scores of each of the five key teaching practices independently, (b) a summative score of the combined five key teaching practices of the TPOT scores, (c) SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score, and (d) SSIS Social Skills subscale change score.

### **Data Analysis**

Both research questions were analyzed using Pearson's correlation. Pearson's correlation is appropriate when examining the relationship between a categorical variable and a ratio-level variable. Correlation measures the strength and the direction of the relationship between two variables, resulting in a correlation coefficient that varies from - 1 to 0 to +1.

The data for this study were input into SPSS and included: (a) TPOT summative raw score (out of 41), (b) TPOT score for each of the five key teaching practices independently (7-9 indicators each, depending on the key teaching practice), (c) SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score (post-test score minus pre-test score), (d) SSIS Social Skills subscale change score (post-test score minus pre-test score), and (e) what group (PTR-YC intervention or control) the participant was assigned. Question 1 was answered by analyzing the summative TPOT score of the five key teaching practices in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, intervention group, and control group. Question 1a was answered by analyzing each of the TPOT key teaching practice scores independently by practice, in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, intervention group, and control group. Question 2 was answered by analyzing the summative TPOT score of the five key teaching practices in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, intervention group, and control group, intervention group, and control group. Question 2 was answered by analyzing the summative TPOT score of the shole group, intervention group, and control group. Question 2a was answered by analyzing each of the TPOT key teaching practice scores independently by practice, in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, intervention group, and control group. And control group, and control group, intervention group, and control group.

For each question, the Pearson Product-Moment Correlation Coefficient was calculated, symbolized as "r." The first step was to graph the scores in a scatterplot via SPSS. The scatterplot graph allowed for visual analysis to determine if a linear relationship existed between the two variables being analyzed. Assuming the scatterplot shows the data points in roughly a straight line, Pearson's correlation is an appropriate test for these data. When the scatterplot is more like a curve, then Pearson's correlation is not the appropriate test for this relationship. SPSS produced a visual scatterplot and identified a Pearson r score, specifying the strength of the relationship and the direction of the relationship. The Pearson correlation coefficient was also examined by checking its significance.

# Summary

This quantitative study examined if children with persistent challenging behavior demonstrated greater changes in challenging behavior and social skills when social and emotional skills were taught in the classroom. This correlational study used data from an extant archival data set for the TPOT and SSIS measures. Both research questions were answered using Pearson's correlation. The results of the data analyses are presented in the following chapter.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR – RESULTS**

This quantitative study examined if children with persistent challenging behavior demonstrated greater changes in challenging behavior and social skills when social and emotional skills were taught in the classroom. Data for this study were extracted from an archival data set that included the Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool for Preschool Classrooms (TPOT; Hemmeter et al., 2014) and Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales (SSIS; Gresham & Elliott, 2008) measures. This chapter begins with a brief review of the sample and description of the data.

As mentioned in the previous chapter, demographic characteristics of both participating teachers and children were similar across study groups, and were extracted from the archival data set in summary form. Teachers were primarily female, with a wide range of experience and education from first-year teachers to those with more than twenty years of teaching preschool, and high school diplomas to master's degrees. Children were mostly White or Hispanic males, nearly half had an Individualized Education Plan (IEP), and mostly attended public preschool classrooms. Participating children ranged in age from 34 to 72 months at baseline data collection and most spoke English as a primary language at home. Additional details of teacher and child demographics were not available for analyses for the current study. Demographic information describing teachers or children by group participation were not available for analyses, so descriptive statistics by group could not be calculated for this study (see pages 45 – 49 for details on study participants).

Descriptive statistics were calculated by group for each variable. Means and standard deviations by group were calculated for the SSIS Problem Behavior (PB) and Social Skills (SS) subscales, TPOT summative score of the five key teaching practices, and TPOT score by key teaching practice. These data are summarized in Table 3.

# Table 3

Means a	nd Stande	ard Dev	iations l	by Group	and	Variable
---------	-----------	---------	-----------	----------	-----	----------

Variable	Whole Group (n=100)		Control Group (n=52)		Intervention Group (n=48)	
-	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
SSIS - PB	-4.83	9.43	-1.98	8.92	-7.92	9.07
SSIS - SS	10.24	16.23	6.54	13.28	14.25	18.22
TPOT Total	24.67	10.37	23.59	10.60	26.13	9.91
Teaching Behavior Expectations	3.30	2.49	2.71	2.50	3.94	2.35
Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies	3.81	2.74	3.50	2.71	4.15	2.76
Teaching Friendship Skills	5.71	2.75	5.48	2.70	5.96	2.82
Teaching Children to Express Emotions	6.15	1.89	5.90	2.14	6.42	1.56
Teaching Problem Solving	5.70	2.43	5.75	2.43	5.65	2.45

A Pearson product-moment correlation was computed to examine two relationship questions. Results for each of the research questions are reported in narrative form and are summarized in Tables 4 - 7.

# Relationship Between Social and Emotional Teaching Strategies and Challenging Behavior

Question 1 examined the relationship between the summative Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT; Hemmeter et al., 2014) score of the five key teaching practices in relation to the Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales (SSIS; Gresham & Elliott, 2008) Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = -.038, p = .706. For the control group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = -.235, p = .094. For the intervention group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(47) =.281, p = .053. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the summative TPOT score of the five key teaching practices in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. Table 4 on the next page provides a summary of these results.

### Table 4

Correlation Matrix of Social and Emotional Teaching Practices and Changes in Children's Challenging (Problem) Behavior

Group	Pearson Correlation	Significance
Whole Group (n=100)	038	.706
Control Group (n=52)	235	.094
Intervention Group (n=48)	.281	.053

Question 1a examined the relationship between each of the five TPOT key teaching practice scores independently by practice, in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

### **Teaching Behavior Expectations**

The Teaching Behavior Expectations key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = -.050, p = .622. For the control group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = -.215, p = .125. For the intervention group, there was a positive correlation with significant results, r(47) = .310, p = .032. There were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Behavior Expectations key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior

subscale change score for the whole group and control group. There was a statistically significant positive correlation for the intervention group.

### **Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies**

The Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = -.068, p = .504. For the control group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = -.199, p = .157. For the intervention group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(47)= .143, p = .332. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Social Skills key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

#### Teaching Friendship Skills

The Teaching Friendship Skills key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was no correlation with nonsignificant results, r (98)=.004, p = .970. For the control group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = -.206, p = .143. For the intervention group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(47) = .277, p = .056. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Friendship Skills key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

### **Teaching Children to Express Emotions**

The Teaching Children to Express Emotions key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a negative correlation, with non-significant results, r(98) = -.121, p = .231. For the control group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = -.201, p = .153. For the intervention group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(47)= .088, p = .552. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Emotional Competencies key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

### **Teaching Problem Solving**

The Teaching Problem Solving key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a positive correlation, with nonsignificant results, r(98) = .054, p = .592. For the control group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = -.186, p = .187. For the intervention group, there was a positive correlation with significant results, r(47) = .300, p = .038. There were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Problem Solving key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Problem Behavior subscale change score for the whole group and control group. There was a statistically significant positive correlation for the intervention group. In summary, statistically significant correlations were found for the intervention group only with Teaching Behavior Expectations [r(47) = .310, p = .032] and Teaching Problem Solving [r(47) = .300, p = .038]. No statistically significant correlations were found for any of the other key teaching practices for the intervention group or for any of the key teaching practices for the whole group or control group. See Table 5 on the next page for the correlation and significance data for all key teaching practices in relation to changes in children's problem (challenging) behavior.

### Table 5

# Correlation Matrix of Key Teaching Practice and Changes in Children's Challenging

Key Teaching Practice	Whole Group (n=100)		Control Group (n=52)		Intervention Group (n=48)	
	Corr.	Sig.	Corr.	Sig.	Corr.	Sig.
Teaching Behavior Expectations	050	.622	215	.125	.310*	.032
Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies	068	.504	199	.157	.143	.332
Teaching Friendship Skills	.004	.970	206	.143	.277	.056
Teaching Children to Express Emotions	121	.231	201	.153	.088	.552
Teaching Problem Solving	.054	.592	186	.187	.300*	.038

<sup>(</sup>Problem) Behavior

\* p < 0.05 level.

### Relationship Between Social and Emotional Teaching Strategies and Social Skills

Question 2 examined the relationship between the summative TPOT score of the five key teaching practices in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a
negative correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = -.002, p = .985. For the control group, there was positive correlation with non-significant results, r(51), p = .534. For the intervention group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(47), = -.142, p = .335. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the summative TPOT score of the five key teaching practices in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, or intervention group. Table 6 provides a summary of these results.

## Table 6

Correlation Matrix of Social and Emotional Teaching Practices and Changes in Children's Social Skills

Group	Pearson Correlation	Significance
Whole Group (n=100)	002	.985
Control Group (n=52)	.088	.534
Intervention Group (n=48)	142	.335

Question 2a examined the relationship between each of the TPOT key teaching practice scores independently by practice, in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

## **Teaching Behavior Expectations**

The Teaching Behavior Expectations key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = .068, p = .502. For the control group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = .093, p = .513. For the intervention group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(28) = -.060, p = .684. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Behavior Expectations key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, or intervention group.

#### **Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies**

The Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was no correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = .003, p = .979. For the control group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = .043, p = .762. For the intervention group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(47) = .081, p = .584. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

#### Teaching Friendship Skills

The Teaching Friendship Skills key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = -.051, p = .617. For the control group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = .081, p = .569. For the intervention

group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(47) = -.192, p = .191. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Friendship Skills key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

## **Teaching Children to Express Emotions**

The Teaching Children to Express Emotions key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = .034, p = .735. For the control group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = .122, p = .390. For the intervention group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(47) = -.128, p =.384. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching Emotional Competencies key teaching practice in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

## **Teaching Problem Solving**

The Teaching Problem Solving key teaching practice was examined in relation to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group. For the whole group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(98) = -.050, p = .620. For the control group, there was a positive correlation with non-significant results, r(51) = .049, p = .732. For the intervention group, there was a negative correlation with non-significant results, r(47) = -.122, p = .410. Overall, there were no statistically significant correlations between the Teaching

Problem Solving key teaching practice compared to the SSIS Social Skills subscale change score for the whole group, control group, and intervention group.

In summary, no statistically significant correlations were found for any of the key teaching practices for the whole group, control group, or intervention group. See Table 7 for the correlation and significance data for all key teaching practices in relation to changes in children's social skills.

# Table 7

Key Teaching Practice	ng Whole Grou (n=100)		Control Group (n=52)		Intervention Group (n=48)	
	Corr.	Sig.	Corr.	Sig.	Corr.	Sig.
Teaching Behavior Expectations	.068	.502	.093	.513	060	.684
Teaching Social and Emotional Competencies	.003	.979	.043	.762	081	.584
Teaching Friendship Skills	051	.617	.081	.569	192	.191
Teaching Children to Express Emotions	.034	.735	.122	.390	128	.384
Teaching Problem Solving	050	.620	.049	.732	122	.410

Correlation Matrix of Key Teaching Practice and Changes in Children's Social Skills

#### **CHAPTER FIVE - DISCUSSION**

The purpose of this study was to examine if children with persistent challenging behavior made greater changes in challenging behavior and social and emotional skills when social and emotional skills were taught in the classroom. The Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) was used to measure changes in preschoolers' challenging (problem) behavior and social skills, collected at pre- and post-test of study participation. Five social and emotional key teaching practices were measured using the Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool (TPOT), collected at pre-test. Correlations between the teaching practices and children's change scores for challenging behavior and social skills were analyzed for possible statistical significance for the whole group, the control group, and the intervention group. Results showed that for three of the five key teaching practices examined, no statistically significant relationships were found with any of the groups for changes in challenging behavior or changes in social skills. Similarly, for the remaining two key teaching practices, no statistically significant relationships were found for the whole group or control group with changes in challenging behavior, or for any of the three groups for changes in social skills. However, statistically significant relationships were found for participants in the intervention group between teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving with reductions in preschoolers' challenging behavior.

These statistically significant relationships are intriguing since they were only found for two of the teaching practices and only in the intervention group. Explanations are difficult to surmise at this juncture, but there are some features worthy of consideration. Primarily, the TPOT assessment includes indicators for teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving that are more concrete, specific, and appear more related to procedures from the Prevent Teach Reinforce for Young Children (PTR-YC; Dunlap et al., 2013) intervention plans in relation to the other three teaching practices. All PTR-YC intervention plans from the original study included a teaching strategy for an appropriate behavior that is intended to serve as a functional replacement for the child's challenging behavior. In other words, it is possible that the intervention plans included instruction on skills related to the classroom's behavior expectations and/or using the problem solving process. The increased magnitude of change in reduction of challenging behavior for the intervention group in relation to the control group suggests this as a possible explanation. In order to elaborate on this potential relationship, experimental analyses may be warranted to test for any causal relationships.

The essential message from the statistically significant correlations is that, within the intervention group, the greater the implementation of the indicators for teaching behavior expectations, the greater the decrease in the preschooler's challenging behavior. Similarly, the greater the implementation of the indicators of teaching problem solving, the greater the decrease in the preschooler's challenging behavior. These associations were not demonstrated with the other three teaching practices and only occurred in the intervention group. The intervention group produced enough change in challenging behavior to make detection of these relationships possible. Teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving both include indicators that are more concrete, specific, and possibly related to procedures from the PTR-YC intervention plans.

Teaching behavior expectations encompasses proactive strategies where teachers provide direct instruction on specific appropriate behaviors for children to demonstrate

and practice, and teachers support the use of the appropriate behaviors throughout the day in daily interactions (Hemmeter et al., 2014). Generally, there are a small number of expectations (three to five) for preschoolers to follow for any given area or daily routine in the classroom. When teachers systematically teach a small number of expected skills and support the use of these skills throughout the day, behavior expectations contribute to a positive learning environment that supports children's engagement in daily routines and activities in the classroom (Fox et al., 2003; Hemmeter et al., 2014). The direct instruction of concrete skills for children to demonstrate, combined with teachers' reminders and reinforcement of those expectations, have been demonstrated to improve behaviors of preschoolers as a universal practice (Fox et al., 2009; National Research Council, 2001) and may be a contributing factor in behavioral improvement for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. In other words, teaching and reinforcing appropriate behavior in the classroom has been demonstrated as an effective strategy for reducing preschoolers' challenging behavior, and may be an effective strategy for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. It is also possible that teaching behavioral expectations works in combination with other social and emotional teaching practices to improve challenging behavior of preschoolers. These speculations are issues for further research.

Problem solving is a complex process that involves a child's ability to recognize a social problem, identify possible solutions, evaluate if the solutions are appropriate, and use the identified appropriate solution (Hemmeter et al., 2014). Although complex, this teaching practice lays out a specific and concrete process for children to follow in order to solve social problems that may occur in the classroom. Similar to teaching behavior

expectations, specific steps to follow may be helpful in teaching preschoolers to identify and use socially appropriate behaviors to resolve those problems instead of responding with challenging or inappropriate behavior. Social problems, like wanting to play with the same toy, engage in the same activity, or not wanting a child to interfere in their play, occur often in preschool classrooms. Hune & Nelson (2002) demonstrated decreases in preschoolers' aggressive behavior and increases in prosocial responses when children were taught a problem solving strategy for resolving social problems in the classroom. These common social problems may be contributing factors to preschoolers' challenging behaviors and abilities to engage in socially sophisticated interactions with peers. In other words, teaching and reinforcing appropriate behavior to resolve social problems in the classroom has been demonstrated as an effective strategy for reducing preschoolers' challenging behavior and may be an effective strategy for preschoolers who already demonstrate persistent challenging behavior. It is also possible that the effectiveness of problem solving works in tandem with other social and emotional skills. These speculations are also issues for future research.

In contrast, the other three key teaching practices are comprised of indicators that appear less specific or concrete, or include less action-oriented behaviors for children to engage in. The three key teaching practices that did not demonstrate statistically significant correlations for this study include teaching social skills and emotional competencies, teaching friendship skills, and teaching children to express emotions. Interestingly, teaching social skills and emotional competencies include indicators for teaching any social skill and teaching emotional competencies in general, and can include teaching friendship skills, teaching children to express emotions and teaching problem solving. It is possible that teaching social skills and emotional competencies did not show any relationships because the teaching practice not only encompasses items that are included in other teaching practices, but that the indicators include less action-oriented or concrete behaviors for preschoolers to engage in.

In addition, teaching friendship skills and teaching children to express emotions include a varied set of skills and emotions. Although friendship skills and expressing emotions are important skills for preschoolers to use in classrooms and are concrete skills, the skills are more "vague" in that there is not a specified set of rules of when a specific friendship skill is to be used in a specific circumstance or how and when emotions are appropriately expressed for any given circumstance. The behaviors included in friendship skills and expressing emotions are entirely dependent upon the context in which they occur, and there is not a particular formula or set of explicit rules about what skill to implement in what context and how to respond to others' behavior and emotions. This becomes much more complicated during a common occurrence where one child uses an appropriate social skill, but the other child does not respond with an appropriate social skill. In this example, a child would benefit from using the problem solving process to identify another friendship or emotional skill to try. These behaviors can and may work in tandem with the problem solving process, but those associations were not revealed in the current study. It is unknown if the statistically significant differences are influenced by the concrete or specific skills and steps of teaching behavior expectations and problem solving in relation to the more variable set of skills and emotions from teaching friendship skills and expressing emotions. Likewise, these speculations are considerations for future research.

## **Implications for Practice**

If specific social and emotional skills can be identified as more effective and efficient at reducing the challenging behavior of preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior, there are several potential implications for practice. First and foremost, there is a sense of urgency for identifying and implementing effective interventions when preschool children exhibit persistent challenging behavior. When challenging behavior persists, a variety of discipline practices are frequently implemented and may ultimately result in exclusionary discipline practices like suspension and expulsion. There is abundant evidence that challenging behavior that is not addressed before children enter kindergarten is not likely to improve and typically worsens over time, extending into problems in adulthood (e.g. Dodge et al., 2006; Fox et al., 2009; Moreland & Dumas, 2008; National Research Council, 2001). The immediate and long-term implications for the child, family and overall community are critical to address as early and efficiently as possible.

Second, and equally as urgent, are implications for practice at the classroom level. If teachers or behavior support personnel can identify possible intervention strategies more efficiently, it is possible to address persistent challenging behavior in a shorter period of time with lasting effects. Teaching preschoolers to engage in appropriate and acceptable social and emotional skills provides the foundation upon which to build more sophisticated skills as they progress. Identifying skills that are more effective at reducing preschoolers' persistent challenging behavior has potential implications for the classroom in regard to preschool teacher preparation programs, professional development and continuing education opportunities, collaboration with behavior support personnel, collaboration with paraprofessionals, administrative support, teacher satisfaction, and quality indicators, just to name a few.

There are also implications for practice that impact preschool programs as a whole and the broader community. When preschool children engage in persistent challenging behavior, there is a need for an individualized intervention plan. This typically involves a team approach that includes classroom personnel, behavior support personnel (e.g. mental health consultants, psychologists, behavior analysts), school/program administrators, and families (Fox et al., 2009). The team is convened to develop and implement the individualized plan, which requires much time, effort, and resources. Making this process more efficient would likely be welcomed by all team members. In addition to the impacts on the school/program, it can take a great toll on the child's family, who may need to take time off work to attend meetings, to seek additional intervention for their child, and may ultimately result in referrals to special education services or other interventions provided in the community, as a few examples (Doubet & Ostrosky, 2016). To reduce impacts on families and their communities, this study revealed relationships that suggest that teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving may be more efficient at reducing preschoolers' persistent challenging behavior.

In summary, there are several potential implications for practice regarding the relationship between social and emotional teaching practices and improvements in preschoolers' challenging behavior in the classroom. There is an urgent need to implement effective interventions for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior, in a shorter period of time with lasting effects, in order to reduce the impact on children,

families, and their communities for immediate and long-term effects. For preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior, this study discovered statistically significant relationships between greater changes in challenging behavior when more indicators of teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving were implemented in the classroom. The necessity of preventing and addressing challenging behavior as early as possible cannot be emphasized enough, so future research is needed to continue to improve the classroom experiences of preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior.

#### **Implications for Teacher Education**

The results from this study suggest several implications for early childhood teacher education programs and professional development opportunities. In any given community, classroom or group care settings for preschoolers can vary widely in availability, accessibility, cost, and quality (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). Furthermore, requirements for teachers in classrooms of preschool-aged children can vary, ranging from minimal state or local child care licensing requirements for the adults caring for preschoolers, to programs that employ teachers with master's degrees in educating young children (National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, 2009). Regardless of the teacher's level of education, preschool teachers often report that they need and want more training in preventing and addressing challenging behavior (e.g. Hemmeter et al., 2006, Snell et al., 2012). Teachers may not be aware that what they need is instruction and training on teaching and supporting young children's social and emotional skills. There is a need for well-trained teachers and professionals in early care and education settings.

Institutions of higher education, including two- and four-year degree programs, could and should incorporate more coursework and experiences for teaching and

supporting young children's social and emotional skills. State and colleagues (2011) examined a sample of university syllabi from elementary teacher preparation programs and discovered that very few programs included the topic of challenging behavior in any of their courses. If programs included challenging behavior, the topic was only covered for several hours (at most) during a semester-long course. However, it is not known how much instruction and experience for teaching and supporting social and emotional skills for young children occur in institutions of higher education, but preschool teachers report that they need and want more training on preventing and addressing challenging behavior (e.g. Snell et al., 2012). If elementary teacher preparation programs do not generally include much coursework devoted to preventing or even addressing challenging behavior, it is likely that early childhood teacher preparation programs are similar and do not include much coursework to preventing or addressing challenging behavior.

If pre-professional training programs rarely provide the relevant coursework and experiences for teaching and supporting appropriate social and emotional skills to prevent and address challenging behavior, professional development training opportunities could be focused on providing this information for teachers in preschool classrooms and for those who are not in programs to pursue a degree in early childhood education and/or early childhood special education. The research reviewed for the current study clearly indicate that teachers can learn to teach and support social and emotional skills with preschool-aged children in classroom settings and see improvements in social and emotional skills and reductions in challenging behavior. The early childhood field continues to struggle with closing the research-to-practice gap to provide the information and strategies that teachers say they want and need (e.g. Snell et al., 2012). Professional development training opportunities can be focused on improving the capacity of preschool teachers to prevent and address challenging behavior in their classrooms by increasing access to, and requirements for, teaching and supporting social and emotional skills.

Early childhood teacher education programs and professional development opportunities for teachers in preschool classrooms need to put a greater emphasis on, and accessibility of, information and strategies for teaching appropriate social and emotional skills. Training is critical to improve the capacity of preschool teachers, and there is plenty of literature documenting successful implementation of teaching social and emotional skills in the classroom and reducing challenging behavior. Current and prospective teachers need to be better advocates for getting the information and support they need for preventing and managing challenging behavior in preschool classrooms.

## **Research Directions**

This study provides data to suggest that certain social and emotional skills, like teaching behavior expectations and problem solving, might be especially effective in reducing preschoolers' persistent challenging behavior. Research to experimentally examine whether or not teaching behavior expectations and/or teaching problem solving reduces preschoolers' persistent challenging behavior is intriguing and worthy of future research. For example, single case research could examine whether a problem solving strategy reduces preschoolers persistent challenging behavior. Hune and Nelson (2002) used an A-B single-subject design to reduce aggressive behavior in four preschoolers after teaching the children a problem solving strategy. Replicating or expanding upon this research holds promise for identifying more effective teaching strategies for reducing preschoolers' persistent challenging behavior. Although the data obtained and used in this study was not collected for this study's particular purpose, the data revealed statistically significant relationships and suggest further exploration through experimental analysis.

Another potential research direction includes examining individual behavior support/intervention plans to identify what specific social or emotional skill(s) is taught or what class of skill is taught. Analyses of the individualized plans could reveal if certain teaching practices are identified for specific types of challenging behavior, if universal classroom practices are incorporated into individualized plans or if most strategies involve direct and individualized instruction. A closer examination of individual plans and the specific skills that are taught might reveal some useful information. Similarly, examining plans to determine if the specific function of the child's challenging behavior relates to the identified teaching strategy for the replacement or appropriate behavior in the classroom would be interesting to assess. Studies that examine the contents of individualized intervention/support plans for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior might reveal information that could inform intervention practices. It is possible that behavior expectations and problem solving play a role in individual plans.

In addition, research that experimentally examines the effects of instruction on specific social and emotional skills would be beneficial. For one, it might be helpful to identify if certain social and emotional skills are more effective that others for specific contexts. For example, are there prerequisite social and emotional skills that are more basic but necessary in order to engage in other social and emotional skills that are more sophisticated? Or do some social and emotional skills work more effectively when used on their own or when used together with other skills? Or are some skills more important for interacting with adults whereas others are more important for interacting with other children? Or are some skills more effective in reducing challenging behavior with different classes or types of challenging behavior? Since there is evidence that social and emotional skill instruction is effective in preventing and reducing challenging behavior, there is still more work to be done to determine the most effective interventions for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. The data analyses from this study suggest teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving may be effective skills. Single case experimental designs studying the effects of specific social and emotional teaching practices on preschoolers' challenging behavior may shed some light on this particular area for future research.

## Limitations

Although there are several limitations of this study, the findings are worthy of continued examination. The primary limitation of this study is how the study was designed, with threats to internal and external validity. First, this study used archival data from a randomized controlled trial study on individualized interventions for persistent challenging behavior, not a study on teaching social and emotional skills. Given that this study used existing data, this study is not replicable. Furthermore, the data extracted for use in this study came from a study designed for a different purpose. which compromises the validity of the results of this study.

Another limitation of this study includes the data analyses. Since correlational analyses were completed, relationships can only be identified and no conclusions can be

determined from the results. Future studies could be designed where preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior receive instruction on a specific social skill like problem solving (the independent variable), and examine if the ability to use that skill reduces a preschooler's challenging behavior (dependent variable). Experimental research designs could provide the evidence needed to determine if certain social and emotional skills are more effective at reducing challenging behavior than others.

A related limitation of this study is that although the correlations were statistically significant for two of the indicators for the intervention group, the correlations were not strong. These correlations suggest that either the relationship between the two variables is not that strong, or perhaps the sample size is not large enough to detect a stronger relationship. Since the sample size for this study was relatively small (another limitation), future studies could include larger sample sizes or use more refined measures to detect relationships between teaching specific social and emotional skills and reductions in challenging behavior in preschoolers.

An additional limitation is the assessment measures used for this study. The SSIS was used to measure the social skills and problem behavior of the preschool children, but this measure is based solely on teacher report, which is subjective and does not provide internal validity. Future studies should include a direct observation measure that includes measures of the child's social skills and challenging behavior in the classroom. Despite these limitations, the speculations derived from the results of this study are worthy of further examination through experimental analysis, including design elements to address the internal and external validity concerns described here.

In summary, there are many future directions for examining the effects of social and emotional skill instruction on the challenging behavior of preschool children. The results from this study suggest further exploration of the relationship between reductions of challenging behavior and teaching behavior expectations and/or problem solving to preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. This study has only just begun to explore the possibility of identifying certain skills like behavior expectations and problem solving as more effective and efficient than others at reducing preschoolers' persistent challenging behavior. More research is needed to determine whether or not specific social and emotional skills are more effective and efficient than others at reducing preschoolers' persistent challenging behavior.

### **Overall Summary**

The purpose of this study was to examine if specific teaching strategies to support social and emotional skills for the whole class correlated with changes in the challenging behavior and social skills of preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. Using correlational analyses, statistically significant reductions in preschoolers' challenging behavior were associated with teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving for children in the intervention group. Implications were discussed, with urgency being the most critical implication of note. But several possible implications were identified for the child, classroom, and the school/program and larger community. Likewise, research directions discussed the experimental evaluation of the effects of social and emotional skill instruction on reductions of challenging behavior for preschoolers with persistent challenging behavior. In particular, the effects of teaching behavior expectations and teaching problem solving suggest further inquiry. Although prevention practices and strategies are preferred, the intervention technology for addressing and improving persistent challenging behavior in preschool classrooms is necessary, urgent, and worthy of continued and further examination.

#### References

- Achenbach, T., & Rescorla, L. (2000). Achenbach system of empirically based
   assessment: Caregiver-teacher report form for ages 1 ½ 5. Burlington, VT:
   Achenbach System of Empirically Based Assessment.
- Ala'i-Rosales, S., Cihon, J. H., Currier, T. D. R., Ferguson, J. L., Leaf, J. B., Leaf, R., McEachin, J., & Weinkauf, S. M. (2019). The big four: Functional assessment research informs preventative behavior analysis. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, 12, 222-234.
- Allen, R., & Steed, E. A. (2016). Culturally responsive Pyramid Model practices: Program-wide positive behavior support for young children. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 36, 165-175.
- Alter, P. J., Conroy, M. A., Mancil, G. R., & Haydon, T. (2008). A comparison of functional behavior assessment methodologies with young children: Descriptive methods and functional analysis. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 17, 200-219.
- Arndorfer, R. E., & Miltenberger, R. G. (1993). Functional assessment and treatment of challenging behavior: A review with implications for early childhood. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 13(1), 82-105.
- Assessment Work Group. (2019). Student social and emotional competence: The current state of the field and a vision for its future. Chicago, IL: Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. <u>https://casel.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/04/AWG-State-of-the-Field-</u> Report 2019 DIGITAL Final.pdf

- Baker, B. L, Blacher, J., Crnic, K. A., & Edelbrock, C. (2002). Behavior problems and parenting stress in families of three-year-old children with and without developmental delays. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, 107(6), 433-444.
- Bellone, K. M., Dufrene, B. A., Tingstrom, D. H., Olmi, D. J., & Barry, C. (2014).
  Relative efficacy of behavioral interventions in preschool children attending Head
  Start. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 23, 378-400.
- Bijou, S. W., Peterson, R. F., & Ault, M. H. (1968). A method to integrate descriptive and experimental field studies at the level of data and empirical concepts. *Journal* of Applied Behavior Analysis, 1, 175-191.
- Blair, K. C., Fox, L. & Lentini, R. (2010). Use of positive behavior support to address the challenging behavior of young children within a community early childhood program. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 30(2), 68-79.

Bornstein, M. H., Hahn, C. S., & Haynes, O. M. (2010). Social competence, externalizing, and internalizing behavioral adjustment from early childhood through early adolescence: Developmental cascades. *Development and Psychopathology, 22(4)*, 717-735.

- Brauner, C. B. & Stephens, C. B. (2006). Estimating the prevalence of early childhood serious emotional/behavioral disorders: Challenges and recommendations. *Public Health Reports*, 121(3), 303-310.
- Brock, M. E., & Beaman-Diglia, L. E. (2018). Efficacy of coaching preschool teachers to manage challenging behavior. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 41(1), 31-48.

- Campbell, S. B. (1995). Behavior problems in preschool children: A review of recent research. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *36*(1), 113-149.
- Carr, E. G. (1977). The motivation of self-injurious behavior: A review of some hypotheses. *Psychological Bulletin*, 54, 800-816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 2909.84.800.
- Carr, E. G. (1994). Emerging themes in the functional analysis of problem behavior. Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 27(2), 393-399.
- Coie, J. K. & Dodge, K. A. (1998). Aggression and antisocial behavior. In W. Damon (Editor in Chief) and N. Eisenberg (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of Child Psychology*, 5<sup>th</sup> *Edition. Volume 3.* Social, emotional, and personality development. NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL). (2012). *Effective* social and emotional learning programs: Preschool and elementary school edition. Chicago, IL: Author
- Connors-Burrow, N. A., Patrick, T., Kyzer, A. & McKelvey, L. (2017). A preliminary evaluation of REACH: Training early childhood teachers to support children's social and emotional development. *Early Childhood Education Journal, 45*, 187-199.
- Conroy, M. A., Dunlap, G., Clarke, S., & Alter, P. J. (2005). A descriptive analysis of positive behavioral intervention research with young children with challenging behavior. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 25, 157-166.

Conroy, M. A., Sutherland, K. S., Algina, J. J., Wilson, R. E., Martinez, J. R., & Whalon,

K. J. (2015). Measuring teacher implementation of the *BEST in CLASS* intervention program and corollary child outcomes. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders, 23*(3), 144-155.

- Cooper, J. O., Heron, T. E., & Heward, W. L. (2007). *Applied behavior analysis* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Copple, C., & Bredekamp, S. (2009). *Developmentally appropriate practice*. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Denham, S. A. (1986). Social cognition, prosocial behavior, and emotion in preschoolers: Contextual validation. *Child Development*, 57, 197-201.
- Denham, S. A., & Burton, R. (2003). Social and emotional prevention and intervention programming for preschoolers. Boston, MA: Springer.
- Denno, D., Phillips, L. R., Harte, H. A., & Moomaw, S. (2004). Creating a supportive classroom environment. In S. H. Bell, V. Carr, D. Denno, L. J. Johnson, & L. R. Phillips (Eds.), *Challenging behaviors in early childhood settings: Creating a place for all children*. Baltimore, MD: Brookes H, Publishing Co.
- Division for Early Childhood. (2017). *Position statement on challenging behavior and young children*. Washington, D.C.: Author.
- Division for Early Childhood of the Council for Exceptional Children (DEC), National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC), & National Head Start Association (NHSA). (2013). *Frameworks for response to intervention in early childhood: Description and implications*. <u>http://www.dec-</u> <u>sped.org/position-statements</u>.

Dodge, K. A., Coie, J. D., & Lynam, D. (2006). Aggression and antisocial behavior in

youth. In W. Damon, R. M. Lerner, & N. Eisenberg (Eds.), *Handbook of Child Psychology: Vol. 3. Social, Emotional, and Personality Development* (6<sup>th</sup> ed.)
(pp. 719-788). New York: Wiley.

- Domitrovich, C., Cortes, R. C., & Greenberg, M. T. (2001). *Head Start Competence Scale Technical Report*. Unpublished manuscript, Pennsylvania State University.
- Domitrovich, C. E., Cortes, R. C., & Greenberg, M. T. (2007). Improving young children's social and emotional competence: A randomized trial of the preschool "PATHS" curriculum. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 28(2), 67-91
- Doubet, S. L., & Ostrosky, M. M. (2016). Parents' experiences when seeking assistance for their children with challenging behaviors. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 36(3), 176-185.
- Downer, J. T., Williford, A. P., Bulotsky-Shearer, R. J., Vitiello, V. E., Bouza, J., Reilly,
  S., & Lhospital, A. (2018). Using data-driven, video-based early childhood consultation with teachers to reduce children's challenging behaviors and improve engagement in preschool classrooms. *School Mental Health*, *10*, 226-242.
- Dunlap, G. & Fox, L. (2011). Function-based interventions for children with challenging behavior. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 33, 333-343.
- Dunlap, G. & Kern, L. (2018). Perspectives on Functional (Behavioral) Assessment. Behavioral Disorders, 43(2), 316-321.
- Dunlap, G., Strain, S., Fox, L., Carta, J. L., Conroy, M., Smith, B., Kern, L., Hemmeter,M. L., Timm, M. A., McCart, A., Sailor, W., Markey, U., Markey, D., Lardieri,S., & Sowell, C. (2006). Prevention and intervention with young children's

challenging behavior: Perspectives regarding current knowledge. *Behavior Disorders*, *32(1)*, 29-45.

- Dunlap, G., Strain, S., Lee, J. K., Joseph, J., & Leech, N. (2018). A randomized controlled evaluation of Prevent-Teach-Reinforce for Young Children. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 37(4), 195-205.
- Dunlap, G., Wilson, K., Strain, P., & Lee, J. K. (2013). Prevent-Teach-Reinforce for Young Children: The early childhood model of individualized positive behavior support. Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes.
- Durand, V. M., & Moskowitz, L. (2015). Functional communication training: Thirty years of treating challenging behavior. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 35(2), 116-126.
- Egger, H. L., & Angold, A. (2006). Common emotional and behavioral disorders in preschool children: Presentation, nosology, and epidemiology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(3-4), 313-337.
- Elliott, S. N., & Gresham, F. M. (2007). *SSiS performance screening guide*. Minneapolis, MN: NCS Pearson, Inc.
- Elliott, S. N., & Gresham, F. M. (2008). SSiS: Social Skills Improvement System: Intervention Guide. Minneapolis, MN: NCS Pearson, Inc.
- Feil, E. G., Frey, A., Walker, H. M., Small, J. W., Seeley, J. R., Golly, A., & Forness, S.
  R. (2014). The efficacy of a home-school intervention for preschoolers with challenging behaviors: A randomized controlled trial of Preschool First Step to Success. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *36*(3), 151-170.

Fettig, A. & Artman-Meeker, K. (2016). Group coaching on pre-school teachers'

implementation of Pyramid Model strategies: A program description. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 36*(3), 147-158.

- Fettig, A., & Barton, E. E. (2014). Parent implementation of a function-based intervention to reduce children's challenging behavior: A literature review. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 34(1), 49061.
- Fox. L. (2015, February). Bringing PBIS to early childhood programs: The prevention of challenging behavior and the promotion of young children's social emotional competence [Webinar]. Retrieved from https://www.aucd.org/docs/.AUCD final.pdf
- Fox, L., Carta, J., Strain, P., Dunlap, G., & Hemmeter, M. L. (2009). Response to intervention and the Pyramid Model. Tampa, Florida: University of South Florida, Technical Assistance Center on Social Emotional Intervention for Young Children.
- Fox, L., Dunlap, G., Hemmeter, M. L., Joseph, G., & Strain, P. (2003). The teaching pyramid: A model for supporting social competence and preventing challenging behavior in young children. *Young Children*, 58, 48-53.
- Fox, L., Hemmeter, M. L., Snyder, P., Binder, D. P., & Clarke, S. (2011). Coaching early childhood special educators to implement a comprehensive model for promoting young children's social competence. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 31(3), 178-192.
- Frey, J. R., Elliott, S. N., & Gresham, F. M. (2011). Preschoolers' social skills: Advances in assessment for intervention using social behavior ratings. *School Mental Health*, 3, 179-190.

- Gibson, J. L., Pennington, R. C., Stenhoff, D. M., & Hopper, J. S. (2010). Using desktop videoconferencing to deliver interventions to a preschool student with autism.
   *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 29(4)*, 214-225.
- Gilliam, W. S. (2005). Prekindergarteners left behind: Expulsion rates in state prekindergarten systems. New York, NY: Foundation for Child Development.
- Gordon, R. S. (1983). An operational classificitation of disease prevention. *Public Health Reports, 98,* 107-109.
- Gresham, F. M., & Elliott, S. N. (1990). *Social Skills Rating System (SSRS)*. Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance.
- Gresham, F. M. & Elliot, S. N. (2008). Social Skills Improvement System Rating Scales. Minneapolis, MN: Pearson, Inc.
- Hemmeter, M. L., Corso, R., & Cheatham, G. (2006). Issues in addressing challenging behaviors in young children: A national survey of early childhood educators. *Conference on Research Innovations in Early Intervention, San Diego, CA.*
- Hemmeter, M. L., Fox, L., & Snyder, P. (2014). Teaching pyramid observation tool(TPOT) for preschool classrooms manual: Research edition. Baltimore, MD: PaulH. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Hemmeter, M. L., Santos, R. M., & Ostrosky, M. M. (2008). Preparing early childhood educators to address young children's social-emotional development and challenging behavior. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 30(4), 321-340.

Hemmeter, M. L., Snyder, P. A., Fox, L., & Algina, J. (2011, April). Effiacy of a

*classroom wide model for promoting social-emotional development and preventing challenging behavior.* Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association. New Orleans, LA.

- Hemmeter, M. L., Snyder, P. A., Fox, L., & Algina, J. (2016). Evaluating the implementation of the Pyramid Model for promoting social-emotional competence in early childhood classrooms. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 36*(3), 133-146.
- Horner, R. H., Sugai, G., Todd, A. N., & Lewis-Palmer, T. (2005). School-wide positive behavior support. In L. M. Barbara & L. Kern (Eds.), *Individualized supports for students with problem behaviors: Designing positive behavior plans* (pp. 359-390). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Hune, J. B. & Nelson, C. M. (2002). Effects of teaching a problem-solving strategy on preschool children with problem behavior. *Behavioral Disorders*, 27(3), 185-207.
- Jones, D. E., Greenberg, M., & Crowley, M. (2015). Early social-emotional functioning and public health: The relationship between kindergarten social competence and future wellness. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(11), 2283-2290.
- Kaufmann, R. K. & Hepburn, K. S. (2007). Early childhood mental health services and supports through a systems approach. In Perry, D. F., Kaufmann, R. K., & Knitzer, J. (Eds.), Social and emotional health in early childhood: Building bridges between services and systems (pp. 63-96). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

- Kusché, C. A. (1984). The understanding of emotion concepts by deaf children: An assessment of an affective education curriculum. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Washington.
- Lavigne, J. V., LeBailly, S. A., Hopkins, J., Gouze,, K. R., & Binns, H. J. (2009). The prevalence of ADHD, ODD, depression, and anxiety in a community sample of 4year-olds. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 38(3), 315-328.
- LeBuffe, P. A. & Naglieri, J. A. (2012). Devereux early childhood assessment for preschoolers, second edition (DECA-P2). Lewisville, NC: Kaplan Early Learning Company.
- Lloyd, B. P., Barton, E. E., Pokorski, E. A., Ledbetter-Cho, K., & Pennington, B. (2019). Function-based interventions in K-8 general education settings: A focus on teacher implementation. *The Elementary School Journal*, 119(4), 601-628.
- McLaren, E. M., & Nelson, C. M. (2009). Using functional behavior assessment to develop behavior interventions for students in Head Start. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 11(1), 3-21.
- Machalicek, W., O'Reilly, M. F., Beretvas, N., Sigafoos, J., & Lancioni, G. E. (2007). A review of interventions to reduce challenging behavior in school settings for students with autism spectrum disorder. Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 1, 229-246.
- Martinez, J. R., Werch, B. L., & Conroy, M. A. (2016). School-based interventions targeting challenging behaviors exhibited by young children with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic literature review. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 51(3), 265-280.

- Meek, S., & Gilliam, W. (2016). Expulsion and suspension in early education as matters of social justice and health equity. *National Academy of Medicine: Perspectives*. <u>https://nam.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Expulsion-and-Suspension-in-Early-Education-as-Matters-of-Social-Justice-and-Health-Equity.pdf</u>
- Merrell, K. W. (1996). Socio-emotional assessment in early childhood: The Preschool and Kindergarten Behavior Scales. *Journal of Early Intervention, 20,* 132-145.
- Meyers, J. C. (2007). Developing the workforce for an infant and early childhood mental health system of care. In Perry, D.F., Kaufmann, R.K., & Knitzer, J (Eds.), *Social and emotional health in early childhood: Building bridges between services and systems*. (pp. 97-120). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Moffitt, T. E., Arseneault, L., Belsky, D., Dickson, N., Hancox, R. J., Harrington, H., Houts, R., Poulton, R., Roberts, B. W., Ross, S., Sears, M. R., Thomson, W. M., & Caspi, A. (2011). A gradient of childhood self-control predicts health, wealth, and public safety. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(7)*, 2693-2698.
- Moreland, A. D., & Dumas, J. E. (2008). Categorical and dimensional approaches to the measurement of disruptive behavior in the preschool years: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28, 1059-1070.
- National Research Council. (2001). *Eager to learn: Educating our preschoolers*.
  Committee on Early Childhood Pedagogy, Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education. B. T. Bowman, M. S. Donovan, & M. S. Burns (Eds.).
  Washington, D. C.: National Academy Press.

National Research Council and Institute of Medicine. (2009). Preventing Mental,

Emotional, and Behavioral Disorders Among Young People: Progress and Possibilities. Washington, D. C.: The National Academies Press.

- National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. (2004). Young children develop in an environment of relationships. Waltham, Mass; Heller School for Social Policy and Management.
- National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. (2008/2012). Establishing a level foundation for life: Mental health begins in early childhood: Working Paper 6.
  Updated edition. www.developingchild.harvard.edu.
- National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. (2010). *The foundations of lifelong health are built in early childhood.* www.developingchild.harvard.edu.
- National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. (2020). *Connecting the brain to the rest of the body: Early childhood development and lifelong health are deeply intertwined: Working Paper No. 15.* www.developingchild.harvard.edu.
- New Freedom Commission on Mental Health. (2003). Achieving the promise: Transforming mental health care in America. Final report (DHHS Publication No. SMA 03-3832). Rockville, MD: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- O'Neill, R. E., Horner, R. H., Albin, R. W., Storey, K. Sprague, J. R., & Newton, J. S. (1997). *Functional assessment of problem behavior: A practical assessment guide*. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Perry, D.F., Kaufmann, R.K., & Knitzer, J. (2007). Building bridges: Linking services, strategies and systems for young children and their families. In Perry, D.F., Kaufmann, R.K., & Knitzer, J (Eds.), Social and emotional health in early

*childhood: Building bridges between services and systems.* (pp. 3-11). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

- Pianta, R. C., La Paro, K. M., & Hamre, B. K. (2008). Classroom assessment scoring system manual: Pre-K. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Powell, D., Fixsen, D., Dunlap, G., Smith, B., & Fox, L. (2007). A synthesis of knowledge relevant to pathways of service delivery for young children with or at risk of challenging behavior. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 29(2), 81-106.
- Reichle, J., McEvoy, M., Davis, C., Rogers, E., Feeley, K., Johnston, S., & Wolff, K.
  (1996). Coordinating preservice and in-service training of early interventionists to serve preschoolers who engage in challenging behavior. *Positive behavioral support: Including people with difficult behavior in the community*, 227-264.
- Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Kitil, M. J., & Hanson-Peterson, J. (2017). To reach the students, teach the teachers: A national scan of teacher preparation and social and emotional learning. A report prepared for the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL). Vancouver, B.C.: University of British Columbia.
- Schultz, D., Izard, C. E., Acherman, B. P., & Youngstrom, E. A. (2001). Emotion knowledge in economically disadvantaged children: Self-regulatory antecedents and relations to social difficulties and withdrawal. *Development & Psychopathology, 13*, 53-67.
- Shonkoff, J. P. & Phillips, D. (2000). Committee on integrating the science of early childhood development. *From neurons to neighborhoods: The science of early childhood development*.

- Simeonsson, R. J. (1991). Primary, secondary, and tertiary prevention in early intervention. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *15*, 124-134.
- Smith, B. & Fox, L. (2003). Systems of service delivery: A synthesis of evidence relevant to young children at risk of or who have challenging behavior. *Center for Evidence-based Practice: Young Children with Challenging Behavior.*
- Smith, S. C., Lewis, T. J., & Stormont, M. (2011). The effectiveness of two universal behavioral supports for children with externalizing behavior in Head Start classrooms. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 13(3), 133-143.
- Snell, M. E., Berlin, R. A., Voorhees, M. D., Stanton-Chapman, T. L., & Hadden, S. (2012). A survey of preschool staff concerning problem behavior and its prevention in Head Start classrooms. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, *14(2)*, 98-107.
- Squires, J, Bricker, D, & Twombly, E. (2015). Ages & Stages Questionnaires: Social-Emotional, Second Edition. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc.
- Squires, J., Bricker, D., Waddell, M., Funk, K., Clifford, J, & Hoselton, R. (2014).
  Social-Emotional Assessment/Evaluation Measure (SEAM), Research Edition.
  Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc.
- Stanton-Chapman, T. L., Walker, V. L., Voorhees, M. D., & Snell, M. E. (2016). The evaluation of a three-tier model of positive behavior interventions and supports for preschoolers in Head Start. *Remedial and Special Education*, 37(6), 333-344.
- State, T. M., Kern, L., Starosta, K. M., & Mukherjee, A.D. (2011). Elementary preservice teacher preparation in the area of social-emotional, and behavioral problems. *School Mental Health*, *3*, 1323.

- Steed, E. A. & Durand, V. M. (2013). Optimistic teaching: Improving the capacity for teachers to reduce young children's challenging behavior. *School Mental Health*, 5, 15-24.
- Sugai, G., Horner, R. H., & Sprague, J. R. (1999). Functional assessment-based behavior support planning: Research to practice to research. *Behavioral Disorders*, 24, 253-257.
- Tapp, J., Wehby, J. H., & Ellis, D. (1995). A multiple option observation system for experimental studies: MOOSES. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, and Computers, 27*, 25-31.
- Thompson, R. A., & Raikes, H. A. (2007). The social and emotional foundations of school readiness. In D. F. Perry, R. K. Kaufmann, & J. Knitzer (Eds.). Social and emotional health in early childhood: Building bridges between services and systems (p. 13-35). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Touchette, P. E., MacDonald, R. F., & Langer, S. N. (1985). A scatter plot for identifying stimulus control of problem behavior. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 18*, 343-351.
- U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights (2016). Data Snapshot: Early Childhood Education. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-earlylearning-snapshot.pdf</u>.
- U.S. Departments of Health and Human Service and Education (2015). *Policy* statement on expulsion and suspension policies in early childhood settings.
   Washington, D.C.: Author. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/guid/school-</u> discipline/policy-statement-ece-expulsions-suspensions.pdf.

- Walker, H. M., Kavanagh, K., Stiller, B., Golly, A., Severson, H. H., & Feil, E. G.
  (1998). First Step to Success: An early intervention approach for preventing school antisocial behavior. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 6(2), 66-80.
- Walker, H. M. (1995). Walker-McConnell scale of social competence and school adjustment: Elementary version. San Diego, CA: Singular Publishing Group.
- Walker, H. M., Severson, H. H., & Feil, E. G. (1995). Early Screening Project: A proven child-find process. Longmont, CO: Sopris West.
- Webster-Stratton, C., Reid, M. J., & Stoolmiller, M. (2008). Preventing conduct problems and improving school readiness: Evaluation of the Incredible Years teacher and child training programs in high-risk schools. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(5), 471-488.
- Werthamer-Larsson, L., Kellam, S. G., & Oveson-McGregor, K. E. (1990). Teacher interview: Teacher observation of classroom adaptation – Revised (TOCA-R). In S. G. Kellam (Ed.), *Johns Hopkins Prevention Center training manual*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University.
- Wichstrom, L., Berg-Nielsen, T. S., Angold, A., Egger, H. L., Solheim, E., & Sveen, T.
  H. (2012). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in preschoolers. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 53(6), 695-705.
- Wood, B. K., Cho Blair, K. S., & Ferro, J. B. (2009). Function-based assessment and intervention. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 29(2), 68-78.

Wood, B. K., Ferro, J. B., Umbreit, J. & Liaupsin, C. J. (2011). Addressing the
challenging behavior of young children through systematic function-based intervention. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, *30(4)*, 221-232.

- Wood, B. K., Oakes, W. P., Fettig, A., & Lane, K. L. (2015). A review of the evidence base of functional assessment-based interventions for young students using one systematic approach. *Behavioral Disorders*, 40(4), 230-250.
- Yates, T. (2016, June). Supporting the needs of young children with challenging behaviors. [Webinar] https://pdggrads360.org/services/PDCService.svc/GetPDCDocumentFile?fileId=1 8897
- Zeng, S., Corr, C. P., O'Grady, C., & Guan, Y. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and preschool suspension and expulsion: A population study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 97, 104149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104149

Zero to Three. (2016, February). Infant-early childhood mental health.

https://www.zerotothree.org/resources/110-infant-early-childhood-mental-health

/. Te	aching behavior Expectations			
	INDICATOR	YES	NO	NOTES
TBE1	Teacher has posted behavior expectations <b>OR</b> rules that are positively stated, include a visual, and are limited in number.			
TBE2	Posted behavior expectations or rules are reviewed with children during large-group <b>OR</b> small-group activities.			
TBE3	Children are reminded of posted behavior expectations or rules throughout the observation.			
TBE4	Teacher provides instruction <b>OR</b> reminders on posted behavior expectations or rules to individual children, during play or within small-group activities.			
TBE5	Teacher comments on appropriate child behavior, linking the behavior to the posted classroom rules or expectations.			
TBE6	Throughout the observation, teacher provides specific positive feedback to children on meeting posted behavior expectations or rules.			
TBE7	Teacher facilitates discussions where children are involved in critically thinking about posted behavior expectations or rules <b>AND</b> their importance in the classroom.			

# Appendix A – Teaching Pyramid Observation Tool excerpt

NOTES:	

Copyright © 2014 Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc. All rights reserved. Do not reproduce without permission. 1-800-638-3775 www.brookespublishing.com

AT	D	0	1	
	r	U		

103

	INDICATOR	YES	NO	NOTES /
TSC1	Teacher uses naturally occurring opportunities across the day to teach social skills <b>OR</b> emotional competencies.			
TSC2	Teacher structures activities or opportunities for children to work together.			
TSC3	Teacher uses a variety of strategies to help children learn the concept associated with specific skills. Examples of strategies include discussion, role play, and description of observations of children in the classroom who demonstrated the skill.			
TSC4	Teacher uses small-group <b>OR</b> large-group activities to teach social skills <b>OR</b> emotional competencies (e.g., friendship skills, problem solving, emotional literacy).			
TSC5	Teacher models expected social skills AND emotional competencies while describing his or her behavior.			
TSC6	Teacher comments positively AND descriptively on children who are using social skills AND expressing their emotions in appropriate ways.			
TSC7	Teacher helps children reflect on their use of social skills <b>OR</b> emotional competencies either individually <b>OR</b> in groups.			
TSC8	Teacher individualizes instruction of social skills OR emotional competencies (e.g., one-to-one instruction as needed, different prompting strategies) based on children's developmental needs. Procedures OR materials vary across children.			
	TOTAL:	Indali		

NOTES:		
	Conversions @ 2014 Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co. Inc. All rights researed	
	Do not reproduce without permission. 1-800-638-3775 www.brookespublishing.com	

SUBSCALE 1: Key Practices



### 9. Teaching Friendship Skills (continued)

	INDICATOR	1	YES	NO	NOTES
FR1	Teacher encourages children to play together.	R	0		
FR2	Teacher comments positively <b>AND</b> descriptively on children who are working together, helping each other or engaging in other friendship behaviors.				
	enter er engeging in etter i p	R	0		
FR3	Teacher uses a variety of strategies AND materials (e.g., discussion, puppets, books) in small-group OR large-group activities to teach friendship skills				
	(e.g., helping others, taking turns, organizing play).	R	0		
FR4	Teacher provides children with planned opportun- ities to practice friendship skills (e.g., role playing, pairing up with a buddy).				
	herm 2 ch	R	0		
FR5	Teacher explicitly teaches OR prompts individual children how to initiate AND respond to their peers.	R	0		
FR6	Teacher provides individualized assistance to help children maintain interactions (multiple interaction		1-1		
	exchanges) with their peers.	R	0		
FR7	Teacher uses a variety of strategies (e.g., peer buddies, structuring activities) to support peers in				
	helping their friends learn AND practice social skills.	R	0		
FR8	Teacher models friendship skills in interactions with children or other adults.	R	0		
FR9	Teacher supports children in reflecting on inter- actions with their peers with children doing most				
	of the talking.	R	0		
	TOTAL:				

NOTES:			

Copyright © 2014 Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc. All rights reserved. Do not reproduce without permission. 1-800-638-3775 www.brookespublishing.com

13



### SUBSCALE 1: Key Practices

## 10. Teaching Children to Express Emotions (continued)

	INDICATOR		YES	NO	NOTES
TEE1	Teacher uses a variety of strategies to teach children about emotion words.	R	0		1
TEE2	Teacher teaches about a variety of both positive <b>AND</b> negative emotions.	R	0		
TEE3	Teacher uses a variety of strategies to teach children how to recognize emotions in themselves and others.	R	0		
TEE4	Teacher validates children's emotions by labeling them <b>AND</b> helping children talk about their emotions.	R	0		
TEE5	Teacher provides children with strategies to use when they are angry to calm down.	R	0		
TEE6	Teacher models or labels own emotions <b>OR</b> appropriate ways to express emotions.	R	0		
TEE7	Teacher uses a variety of strategies to teach children how to respond to other children's emotions.	R	0		¥3
TEE8	Teacher individualizes instruction on emotions based on children's developmental needs. Procedures and materials vary across children.	R	0		
	TOTAL:		1-1		

Copyright © 2014 Paul H. Brockes Publishing Co., Inc. All rights reserved. Do not reproduce without permission. 1-800-638-3775 www.brockespublishing.com

	INDICATOR		YES	NO	NOTES
TPS1	Teacher supports children as they work through the problem-solving process in naturally occurring situations.	R	0		
TPS2	Teacher engages children in generating solutions to common classroom problems.	R	0		
TPS3	Teacher explicitly teaches problem-solving steps using visuals.	R	0		
TPS4	Teacher provides visual reminders about problem- solving steps or possible solutions.	R	0		
TPS5	Teacher notes problem situations <b>AND</b> uses those as examples during group situations to talk about how to problem solve.	R	0		
TPS6	Teacher comments on AND recognizes children who have been "good problem solvers."	R	0		
TPS7	Teacher helps children reflect on their own use of problem solving.	R	0		
TPS8	Teacher individualizes instruction on problem solving based on children's individual needs.	R	0		
TPS9	Teacher uses problem solving in interactions with children AND models problem-solving steps.	R	0		
	TOTAL:				
NO	res:				

Copyright © 2014 Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co., Inc. All rights reserved. Do not reproduce without permission. 1-800-638-3775 www.brookespublishing.com

17

DIRECTIO	NS			STUDENT'S NAME					
Use a No Make so complete	o. 2 pencil o lid marks the ely.	nly. at fill the circle	-	FIRST		MI	LAST		
Make no	stray marks	s on this form.		0000000	200	0	00000		000
Erase cl change.	eanly any m	arks you wish	to						
Correct (	• Inco	nrrect @@@				0			
				0000000	100	(1)			
					000	0	O O O O O		
STUDENT	S BIRTH DAT	F		BRRRRR		0	REERE		
MONTH	DAY	YEAR		0000000	DOO	õ	000000	0000000	000
				0000000	000	٢	000000		000
Jan	0.08	1900		K K K K K K K	K K K	8	KKKKK	CKKKKKKKK	
Feb	202	000			UUU	e			
Mar	000	00				6			
Mau	600	00				Ő	00000		000
Jun	6 18 20	00		PPPPPP	DOD	0	PPPPP		PPP
Jul	000	00		0000000	000	٢	00000		000
O Aug	0 18 2	00							DOO
O Sep	0 19 20			8888888		6	88888		000
Oct		00				0			000
Dec					NON	ě	NONONO.		000
0.000						0			
				XXXXXXXX ABABABA		(A)			
TODAYS	DATE			00000000	nnn	ă	000000		111
MONTH	DAY	YEAR		0.00.010.010.0		-	1 lossi or lossi or lossi o		
-	000	20		STUDENT'S GRADE	STL	DENT	S SEX		
Jan	000	00		Pre-K C A	0	Female			
Mar	000	22		OK O7		Male			
O Apr	000	10		01 08					
O May	088			02 09	P.O. 1	lox 141	16 Minneapolis, MN	55440	
Jun	0 10 20	60		03 010	Copyri	ight © 2	2008 NCS Pearson, Inc	. All rights reserved.	
Jul	000	00		04 011	Warn	ing: No	part of this publication	may be reproduced or tr	ansmitted
Sep	0.00	00		0.0 12	photo	copy, re	cording, or any informa	ation storage and retrieva	i system,
Oct	10 20 30	00			Pears	on, the	PSI logo, PsychCorp	p, and SSIS are tradema	rks
O Nov	Ð				in the its aff	U.S. an liate(s).	d/or other countries of	f Pearson Education, Inc.,	or
O Dec		I			Printe	d in the	United States of Amer	rica.	
					D	FAI	SON		
					P	LAI	13014	OPSVI	chCorp

# Appendix B – Social Skills Improvement System

-

This booklet contains statements describing a student's behavior and level of academic performance. It consists of three parts: Social Skills, Problem Behaviors, and Academic Competence.

#### Social Skills & Problem Behaviors

Please read each item and think about this student's behavior during the past two months. Then, decide how often this student displays the behavior.

If this student never exhibits the behavior, fill in the  $\circledast$  .

If this student seldom exhibits the behavior, fill in the (s).

If this student often exhibits the behavior, fill in the (1).

If this student almost always exhibits the behavior, fill in the (A).

For each of the Social Skills items, please also rate how important you think the behavior is for success in your classroom.

If you think the behavior is not important for success in your classroom, fill in the .

If you think the behavior is important for success in your classroom, fill in the 1.

If you think the behavior is critical for success in your classroom, fill in the .

Please mark every item. In some cases, you may not have observed this student perform a particular behavior. If you are uncertain of your response to an item, give your best estimate. There are no right or wrong answers.

3	Social Skills	How Often?	How Important?
1	Asks for help from adults.	N ( ) ( )	000
2	Follows your directions.		
3	Tries to comfort others.	N S O A	(n) (i) (e)
4	Savs "please."		
5	Questions rules that may be unfair.	000	000
6	Is well-behaved when unsupervised.		
7	Completes tasks without bothering others.	1 8 O A	
8	E Forgives others.		
9	Makes friends easily.	8 8 0 A	000
10	Besponds well when others start a conversation or activity.		
11	Stands up for herself/himself when treated unfairly.	N S O A	000
12	Participates appropriately in class.		
13	. Feels bad when others are sad.	1 8 0 A	000
14	Speaks in appropriate tone of voice.	N 8 0 8	
15	5. Says when there is a problem	N S O A	000
16	3. Takes responsibility for her/his own actions	8 8 0 A	000
17	7. Pays attention to your instructions.	8 S O A	000
18	<ol><li>Shows kindness to others when they are upset.</li></ol>	8 8 0 A	000
15	<ol> <li>Interacts well with other children.</li> </ol>	8 S O A	000
20	0. Takes turns in conversations.	8 S O A	
21	1. Stays calm when teased.	11 S O A	
22	2. Acts responsibly when with others	8808	
23	<ol><li>Joins activities that have already started.</li></ol>	808	0 () ()
2	4. Says "thank you."		
2	5. Expresses feelings when wronged	800A	000
20	6. Takes care when using other people's things	1804	
2	7. Ignores classmates when they are distracting	000	000
21	8. Is nice to others when they are feeling bad	800A	
2	9. Invites others to join in activities	() () (A	000
3	0. Makes eye contact when talking	(N) (S) (B) (A)	
3	1. Takes criticism without getting upset	8 8 0 A	000
3	2. Respects the property of others	860A	000
33	3. Participates in games or group activities	800A	000
34	4. Uses appropriate language when upset	N 8 0 A	
38	5. Stands up for others who are treated unfairly	830A	000
36	6. Resolves disagreements with you calmly	N (5 () A	(n) (i) (c)
37	7. Follows classroom rules	8 8 0 A	000

				How Often?		?	Important?
R SH	ows concern for others			(8)	3)(0)		000
9 St	arts conversations with peers			ñ	30	(A)	000
0 14	es gestures or body appropriately y	with others		(1)	\$ (0	(A)	() () ()
11 D	had a provide a	l or hit		0	30	(4)	000
0 Te	kes responsibility for part of a group	anticitu		1	30		000
12. Id	reduces herealf himself to others	durinity		0	30	(1)	000
+3. III 1.4 B.A.	akes a compromise during a conflict			no l	30	6	000
+4. IVA	exes a compromise during a commen	without bransing		õ	20	6	000
10. 01	lys nice things about herseli/himseli	are		ň	36	6	000
10. 3L	sys carn when disagreening with our	010		00	01.00	0	0.0.0
roble	m Benaviors			0	10	0	
17. AC	ts without thinking			0	100	in	
0. IS	dies others			0	0.0	0	
19. DI	nies ourers			No.		in in	
50. Be	comes upset when routines change	8		0	0.6	6	
51. Hi	is difficulty waiting for turn			6	0.0	in a	
2. D	es things to make others teel scare		*******************	0	00	0	
53. FI	agets or moves around too much			0			
54. H	as stereotyped motor behaviors		*********************	2			
55. Fo	irces others to act against their will			0		10	
56. W	Ithdraws from others	***************					
57. H	as temper tantrums			0		10	
8. K	eps others out of social circles	**************	******************		00		
59. B	eaks into or stops group activities .		******************	0	000	10	
90. H	speats the same thing over and ove	f	**********************	0	0.6	100	
61. Is	aggressive toward people or object	s		۲	30		
2. G	ets embarrassed easily			(8)	50		
3. C	heats in games or activities				30	) (A)	
64. A	cts lonely				(1)	) (A)	
65. Is	inattentive.			(8)	(\$)(0		
66. H	as nonfunctional routines or rituals .			(1)	(1)		
67. F	ghts with others			(1)	30		
68. S	avs bad things about self			(8)	(8)(0		
59. D	sobeys rules or requests				(\$)(		
70. H	as low energy or is lethargic			(1)	(\$)(		
71. G	ets distracted easily			(1)	(\$)(		
72. U	ses odd physical gestures in interac	tions		(1)	(3)(	) (A)	
73. T	alks back to adults			(1)	(5)(	) (A)	
74. A	cts sad or depressed		*****************	(1)	(\$)(8)	) (A)	
75. L	es or does not tell the truth			(1)	(1)		
76. A	cts anxious with others			1	30		
				_		_	
demic	Competence (for students from kin	ndergarten through Gr	ade 12)				
se ass	less this student's academic or learn	ning behaviors in you	classroom. Compare this s	tud	ent v	vith (	other students
ame o	lassroom.				-		
c all ite	ms using a scale of 1 to 5. Mark "1"	if this student is in th	e lowest 10% of the class. N	Nark	("5")	f thi	s student is in
est 10	% of the class.						
vest 1	0% Next Lowest 20%	Middle 40%	Next Highest 20%			н	ighest 10%
0	(8)	0	۲				0
	annound with other shudarts in mu	deserves the court	Landomia andormanas of	this	etre	lant	10 000V
	ompared with other students in my	classroom, the overal	academic performance of	di li S	aiuc	MULT	10 U U U U U
//. U	and the state of t	and the second sec	l- O				Carlos Carlo

80.	In terms of grade-level expectations, this student's skills in reading are:	1	2	3	(1)	6
81.	In terms of grade-level expectations, this student's skills in mathematics are:	1	2	3	٢	(3)
82.	This student's overall motivation to succeed academically is:	1	2	3	(4)	(3)
83.	Compared with other students in my classroom, this student's intellectual functioning is:	1	2	3	4	(3)

